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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EE®RE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”)
of Global Mastermind Capital Limited (the “Company”), |
presented to you the annual report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recorded
a loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$91.3 million, compared to a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$141.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2018. The Group recorded a decrease in loss
of approximately HK$49.9 million attributable to owners of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2019. Such decrease
was mainly attributable to (i) a decrease in loss arising in change
in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
of approximately HK$44.5 million; (i) an increase in revenue of
approximately HK$2.6 million; and (i) a decrease in administrative
expenses and other operating expenses of approximately HK$3.3
million.

PROSPECTS

Due to the ongoing social unrest, U.S. China trade disputes,
2020 was a slow year for the Hong Kong stock market. After
experiencing a heavy sell-off in the 2nd half of the year, and a
slight recovery in December, the board originally expected 2020’s
sentiment to be positive. However, with the outbreak of the
coronavirus, everything changed.
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Due to the coronavirus, stock markets worldwide are
experiencing brutal sell-off, it also leads to huge uncertainty in the
world, and it will be changing our lives as we know permanently.
Although the Federal Reserve & other central banks had
significantly cut-rate, launched quantitative easing programs, and
multiples government had launched different stimulus packages.
These extreme measures did not help the investor to regain their
confidence, and major stock markets entered a bear market.

The Group will remain focus on finding and purchase strong
companies that are trading at an attractive value, and the Group
will increase its cash position and reinvest when it finds suitable.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my deepest
gratitude and appreciation to business partners, external
professionals, fellow Directors, employees and our shareholders.

Mung Kin Keung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recorded
a loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$91.3 million, compared to a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$141.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2018. The Group recorded a decrease in loss
of approximately HK$49.9 million attributable to owners of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2019. Such decrease
was mainly attributable to (i) a decrease in loss arising in change
in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
of approximately HK$44.5 million; (i) an increase in revenue of
approximately HK$2.6 million; and (iii) a decrease in administrative
expenses and other operating expenses of approximately HK$3.3
million.

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND
RESTRICTIONS

Set out below are the investment objectives, policies and
restrictions of the Group:

Our investments will normally be made in listed and unlisted
companies;

i.  The Group had made investments with a short to long term
perspective with the objective of making capital gain as
well as income from dividend or interests. Over the years,
the Group invested in listed and unlisted securities, bonds,
direct investments, projects, properties and structured
products. Investments are also made in special or recovery
situations;

i. ~ There is no restriction on the proportion of the Company’
s assets which may be invested in any specific sector or
company save for the restriction that the Company will not
make an investment in any company which represents more
than 20% of the consolidated net assets of the Company at
the time such investment is made;

Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND
RESTRICTIONS (CONTINUED)

iv. ~ The Company will not either on its own or in conjunction
with any connected person take legal, or effective,
management control of underlying investments and that in
any event the investment company will not own or control
more than 30% (or such other percentage as may from time
to time be specified in the Takeovers Code as being the level
for triggering a mandatory general offer) of the voting rights
in any one company or body; and

v.  The Directors do not intend to seek bank borrowings until
substantially all the Company’s funds have been invested
and that the Company borrows, the Directors do not intend
to borrow amounts representing in aggregate more than
the consolidated net assets of the Company at the time the
borrowing is made.

INVESTMENT REVIEW

As at 31 December 2019, the major investments of the Group
were (i) approximately HK$251,922,000 of a portfolio of listed
financial instruments; (i) approximately HK$41,338,000 of direct
investment in unlisted financial instruments; and (i) approximately
HK$23,159,000 of direct investment in unlisted investment funds.
The investment portfolio of the Group mainly comprises equity
and debt securities mainly in Hong Kong, Singapore, Canada and
the United States of America.

Dividend from listed equity investments during the year ended
31 December 2019 was approximately HK$3,821,000. Interest
income from debt securities during the year ended 31 December
2019 was approximately HK$2,207,000.

The details of all investments with a value greater than 5% of
the Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest investments
at 31 December 2019 are respectively set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEFWE DM

The (loss)/gain arising in change in fair value of EFEBEFAEEEERBAEEEELAES%Z
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss KREURMBABATNBE=-SE—NE+=A

for all investments with a value greater than 5% of =+—HLEFEEV10EEARREZER
the Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest ERIRUAFEIEZHEEELAFES
investment of the companies for the year ended BE£ 2 (B#8) WHEMT
31 December 2019 as follows

(Loss)/gain

arising in change

in fair value of
financial
assets at fair
value through
profit or loss

UAFESIRZ
MBEENFE
Name of investments BEELZ
REHR (E8) =
Notes HK$'000
By aE FHET
Listed equity and debt securities ERLTRARERFES
in Hong Kong
Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited KB EBBER AR 1 (180)
Brockman Mining Limited Brockman Mining Limited
mERBEERERAA 2 (12,964)
China Information Technology AREERIEEREAER AT
Development Limited 3 (1,899)
China State Construction International FEEEREEEER AR
Holdings Limited 4 1,636
Greenland Hong Kong Holdings Limited. FUMBEBZEREBR AR 5 -
Huayi Tencent Entertainment Company Limited £ 38 s IR 44 A R A &) 6 (15,414)
Kaisa Group Holdings Ltd FhREEBEZERERAA 7 655
Listed debt securities outside BRI ETRAFE S
Hong Kong
Seazen Group Limited B EERBR AR 8 56
Unlisted equity securities outside BERBUNZE ETRAES
Hong Kong
Oddup Inc. Oddup Inc.
— Preference shares — Preference shares 9 1,732
Unlisted investment fund outside ERAUIZELELTREES
Hong Kong
Click Ventures Segregated Click Ventures Segregated
Portfolio Company Portfolio Company
— Fund Series 3T SP — Fund Series 3T SP 10 (350)
s EAS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The (loss)/gain arising in change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
for all investments with a value greater than 5% of
the Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest
investment of the companies for the year ended
31 December 2019 as follows (Continued)

Notes:

(1) As disclosed in the interim report 2019 of Beijing Enterprises Water
Group Limited (“BJ Ent Water”) for the six months ended 30 June
2019, during the period, BJ Ent Water entered into service concession
arrangements and entrustment agreements for a total of 1,047
water plants including 875 sewage treatment plants, 140 water
distribution plants, 30 reclaimed water treatment plants and 2 seawater
desalination plants. They had 20 comprehensive renovation projects
under construction during the period. The projects mainly located in
Zhejiang Hangzhou, Zhejiang Taizhou, Chengdu Jianyang, Malaysia
Terengganu, Inner Mongolia, Sichuan Luzhou, Beijing Daxing and
Hebei Hengshui.

In the second half of 2019, BJ Ent Water will endeavour to grasp a
strategic move heading towards an asset-light enterprise, and drive
the growth of both core and emerging businesses according to its
comprehensive innovative and ecological strategies by capitalising
on its strategic position as an integrated, leading and professional
water environment comprehensive service provider that offers services
across the industry chain.

(2)  Asdisclosed in the interim report 2019/20 of Brockman Mining Limited
(“Brockman Mining”) for the six months ended 31 December 2019,
Brockman Iron Pty Ltd (“Brockman Iron”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Brockman Mining, and Polaris Metals Pty Ltd (“Polaris”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Mineral Resources Limited (“MRL”), progressed
activities towards satisfaction of their Farm-In obligations in relation
to the Farm-In Joint Venture Agreement (the “FJV Agreement”) over
Brockman’s Marillana Iron Ore Project located in Pilbara region of
Western Australia.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEB W R D

The (loss)/gain arising in change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
for all investments with a value greater than 5% of
the Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest
investment of the companies for the year ended
31 December 2019 as follows (Continued)

Notes: (Continueq)

@

(Continued)

On 19 July 2019, both parties agreed that extra time was required
to undertake additional drilling and metallurgical testwork to ensure
that there are no fatal flaws in the mine plan and process plant
design. Hence, they agreed to extend certain key dates pertaining
to the FJV Agreement, as discussed in the section “Farm-In Prior to
Joint Venture”. Under the terms of the FJV Agreement and following
satisfaction of the conditions precedent and completion of the Farm-
In Obligations, Polaris will earn a 50% interest in Marillana, and MRL
will be responsible for the development of the mine, construction and
operation of the processing plant. MRL has also committed to the
construction and operation of ore haulage and port infrastructure to
facilitate the export of Marillana product. Following the recent agreed
variations to the FJV Agreement, it is expected that construction
of this infrastructure will commence before the end of 2020 and be
operational before the end of 2022. The establishment of the Joint
Venture will unlock the value of the Marillana Iron Ore Project and may
assist in the future development of the group’s other iron ore projects in
the Pilbara.

As disclosed in the interim report 2019 of China Information Technology
Development Limited (“China Info Tech”) for the six months ended
30 June 2019, China Info Tech has made steady progress in refining
its business model, putting more emphasis on their main business
in Macro and the future development of DataCube. Leveraging their
established brand names including Macro and DataCube, they deliver
quality services to its clients. With more centralized resources, they
will continue to endeavour to intensify its innovation facilitation and
enhance new market expansions.

Meanwhile, China Info Tech has acquired 51% of the equity interest of
FULLPAY K.K. (FULLPAY# =X & 4t ) (“Fullpay”) at a consideration of
HK$15,300,000 (the “Acquisition”). Upon the Acquisition, the company
owns 67.67% of the equity interest of Fullpay. Fullpay is principally
engaged in the sourcing and provision of electronic fund transfer
at point of sale (“EFT-POS”) terminals and peripheral devices which
support WeChat Pay, as well as the provision of relevant EFT-POS
installation and system support services, to vendors in Japan.

Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The (loss)/gain arising in change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
for all investments with a value greater than 5% of
the Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest
investment of the companies for the year ended
31 December 2019 as follows (Continued)

Notes: (Continueq)

©)

(Continued)

Subsequent to the period ended 30 June 2019, China Info Tech
shall dedicate to pay close attention to the market condition and act
accordingly while continue to team up Macro and DataCube so as to
synergize their IT capabilities and to jump on the bandwagon of Smart
Cities among the businesses.

According to the latest annual result announcement of China State
Construction International Holdings Limited (“China State”) for the year
ended 31 December 2019, during the year of 2019, they continued to
maintain its leading position in Hong Kong and Macau’s construction
market, and continued to provide stable cash flow. They fully utilized its
competitive advantages and brand value, seized market opportunities
and achieved new breakthroughs in Hong Kong. The new contracts
signed in Hong Kong amounted to HK$38.13 billion in the year,
representing a significant growth of 44.9% as compared with previous
year.

In Mainland China Market, China State reduced the proportion of
orders for long term projects, strengthened business model innovation,
and actively acquired infrastructure projects with a shorter cycle, faster
turnover and higher return based on their strategy of balance between
scale growth, leverage and cash flow. The new contracts signed in the
Mainland China amounted to HK$55.43 billion, with a slight reduction
from the previous years’ scale, while the structure of contracts was
significantly optimized and the project cycle was relatively shortened,
which achieved the target of structural adjustment.

In 2020, China State will continue to improve their investment
management system, and refine the investment research and project
management for the business in Mainland China. They will establish
a standardized evaluation system for each of the regional markets
and different types of investment projects. Also, they will continue
to strengthen the leading position in Hong Kong and Macau’s
construction market, actively exploring markets and obtaining
contracts in both public and private sectors. They will mainly focus on
large-scale construction projects such as public housing, hospitals and
airports, and seeking for opportunities in investment-driven contracting
and old buildings reconstruction.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEFWE DM

The (loss)/gain arising in change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
for all investments with a value greater than 5% of
the Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest
investment of the companies for the year ended
31 December 2019 as follows (Continued)

Notes: (Continueq)

©)

Greenland Hong Kong Holding Limited (stock code: 00337) issued
a maximum principal amount of USD200,000,000, 1.5 year, 9.875%
coupon interest bonds international bond on 18 December 2018 and
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 05485) with the coupon rate
9.875%, interest payable semiannually and matured on 16 June 2020.

According to the latest annual result announcement of Hauyi Tencent
Entertainment Company Limited (“Huayi Tencent”) for the year ended
31 December 2019, during the year, Hauyi Tencent has all along
been paying heed to the trend of the film market and the evolvement
of taste of the audience, as well as actively looking for opportunities
in commencing media and entertainment projects in North America.
During the year under review, the group’s joint investment in and
production of “Moonfall”, a Hollywood science-fiction and disaster
epic directed by Roland Emmerich, with HBI, its parent company,
have already been put in place and the group also obtained the
distribution rights of the film in the PRC. A production in partnership
with Centropolis Entertainment, Street Entertainment, HBI and Hauyi
Tencent.

For the healthcare and wellness services, Hauyi Tencent focused on the
operations of “Bayhood No. 9 Club”, a healthcare and wellness centre
which the group continues to operate on a lease basis. It is one of the
top green health clubs in the PRC with well-equipped facilities such as
a standard 18-hole golf course, lakeside golf course private VIP rooms,
spa facilities as well as Asia’s first PGA-branded golf academy, offering
high-end enterprises and individual clients professional and excellent
healthcare and wellness services. The membership of “Bayhood No. 9
Club” remained steady during the year under review, and the healthcare
and wellness services contributed approximately HK$96,590,000 in
revenue to the group in 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The (loss)/gain arising in change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
for all investments with a value greater than 5% of
the Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest
investment of the companies for the year ended
31 December 2019 as follows (Continued)

Notes: (Continueq)

©)

(Continued)

Looking ahead to 2020, Hauyi Tencent expects that, given the
successive completion of entertainment and media projects which
it had financed and produced, the season of harvest is now on the
horizon. It is anticipated that five movies of the group will be screened
across the globe and in the PRC during the year 2020 and 2021,
including productions directed by famous Hollywood directors and
films enthusiastically talked about in Korea. Hauyi Tencent is confident
that these productions will attain success and significantly boost
the group’s revenue generated from the Entertainment and Media
Operations.

As disclosed in the interim report 2019 of Kaisa Group Holdings Ltd.
(“Kaisa Group”) for the six months ended 30 June 2019, during the
period, Kaisa Group launched favorable products and services to
enhance the satisfaction of customers, thereby contributing to the
solid growth in its property sales. Sales in first-tier and major second-
tier cities where Kaisa Group has strong presence continued to drive
the growth. In particular, sales in first-tier cities contributed 40% of its
contracted sales, projects such as Shenzhen Yantian Kaisa City Plaza,
Shenzhen Bantian Kaisa City Plaza, Shenzhen E Cube, Wuhan Kaisa
Plaza, Wuhan Kaisa Yuefu, Zhongshan Kaisa Metro City and Huizhou
Riverbank New Town recorded satisfactory results during the period.
Kaisa Group acquired a total of 15 parcels of land with estimated
attributable gross floor area of approximately 2.5 million sg. m., and
undertook 167 real estate projects in 47 cities nationwide. Regarding
the redevelopment projects, Kaisa Group successfully obtained a
project in Xuhang Town, Jiading District in Shanghai for redeveloping a
site of a village in the city into a land for commercial and residential use.

In the second half of 2019, Kaisa Group will also actively grasp
opportunities by trying to acquire quality lands opportunely so as to
consolidate its business presence in the area. Meanwhile, they will also
focus on first-tier and major second-tier cities in Shanghai and Beijing
Region, as well as their surrounding areas. They will secure the land
supply for the short, medium and long term through ways of public
bidding, M&A, urban renewal and development of industrial property.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEFWE DM

The (loss)/gain arising in change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
for all investments with a value greater than 5% of
the Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest
investment of the companies for the year ended
31 December 2019 as follows (Continued)

8) Seazen Group Limited (stock code: 01030) issued a maximum
principal amount of USD350,000,000, 3 years, 5.0% senior notes on
9 February 2017 and listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited with the coupon rate 5.0%, interest payable
semiannually and matured on 16 February 2020.

9) Oddup Inc. was incorporated in the United States of America and
is principally engaged in operating a research platform that provides
analytical information on startups, their trends, and both current and
expected future valuations.

(10) Fund Series 3T SP operates by Click Ventures Segregated Portfolio
Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Fund Series 3T SP
is principally invested in start-ups at the seed to series A stage in Hong
Kong and internationally.

The Directors believe that the future performance of the Hong
Kong listed equities held by the Group is largely affected by
economic factors, investor sentiment, demand and supply
balance of an investee company’s shares and fundamentals of an
investee company, such as investee company’s news, business
fundamental and development, financial performance and
prospects. Accordingly, the Directors closely monitor the above
factors, particularly the fundamentals of each investee company
in the Group’s equity portfolio, and proactively adjust the Group’s
equity portfolio mix in order to improve its performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had (i) cash and
cash equivalents of approximately HK$3,857,000 (as at 31
December 2018: approximately HK$38,500,000); (ii) financial
liability of approximately HK$9,936,000 (as at 31 December
2018: approximately HK$9,899,000); and lease liabilities of
approximately HK$6,355,000 (as at 31 December 2018: Nil);
(iii) net current assets of approximately HK$294,812,000, as
compared to approximately HK$388,088,000 as at 31 December
2018. The gearing ratio (borrowings/total equity) as at 31
December 2019 was 5.5% (as at 31 December 2018: 2.5%),
borrowings included other financial liability and lease liabilities.
The current ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2019 was
10.93 compared to 19.04 as at 31 December 2018.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2019, a portfolio of listed equity and debt
securities held under margin account with carrying amounts of Nil
(as at 31 December 2018: HK$32,080,000) have been pledged
to secure margin loan from securities broker in accruals and other
payables

CAPITAL COMMITMENT AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

The Group had no material capital commitment and contingent
liabilities as at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Most of the investments and the business transactions of the
Group are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The Board
believes the foreign exchange exposure is minimal.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MIEJELTHHH & *ﬁ'

SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had 700,333,925 shares
of HK$0.01 each in issue (31 December 2018: 700,333,925
shares).

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2019.

PROSPECTS

Due to the ongoing social unrest, U.S. China trade disputes,
2020 was a slow year for the Hong Kong stock market. After
experiencing a heavy sell-off in the 2nd half of the year, and a
slight recovery in December, the board originally expected 2020’
s sentiment to be positive. However, with the outbreak of the
coronavirus, everything changed.

Due to the coronavirus, stock markets worldwide are
experiencing brutal sell-off, it also leads to huge uncertainty in the
world, and it will be changing our lives as we know permanently.
Although the Federal Reserve & other central banks had
significantly cut-rate, launched quantitative easing programs, and
multiples government had launched different stimulus packages.
These extreme measures did not help the investor to regain their
confidence, and major stock markets entered a bear market.

The Group will remain focus on finding and purchase strong

companies that are trading at an attractive value, and the Group
will increase its cash position and reinvest when it finds suitable.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group ensured that its employees are remunerated
according to the prevailing manpower market conditions
and individual performance, qualification, experience and the
remuneration policies are reviewed on a regular basis.

As at 31 December 2019, there were 13 employees, including 2
executive Directors and 3 independent non-executive Directors.
Remuneration policy is reviewed in accordance with the market
situation and the performance of individual Director from time
to time. In addition to salaries, the Group provides employee
benefits such as medical insurance and mandatory provident
fund schemes. Moreover, discretionary bonus and share options
will be paid or granted to employees based on the Group’s and
individual performances.

The emoluments of the Directors were determined with reference
to their duties and responsibilities with the Company, the
Company’s performance, prevailing market conditions and the
market emoluments for directors of other listed companies and
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee.

The Group’s total staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments)
for the year ended 31 December 2019 under review amounted
to approximately HK$8,087,000 (as at 31 December 2018:
approximately HK$11,974,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
MEEJE -\-_.I' Ak & *ﬁ'

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Principal risks
TERR

Business risk

E 3

Economic risk

£«< MHEA

Liquidity risk
nEE & MR

Price risk

L

Description
Bt

Business risk is the risk of rapid changes
in investment market could impact the
Group’s performance.

¥BEBRRRETSRERE CMAIETE
REBEXRR 2B -

Economic risk is the risk of any downturn
in economic conditions could impact the
Group’s pen‘ormance

RERRRCEZRAIETERNEERR
Z B o

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group
would not be able to meet its financial
obligations as they fall due.

nBETRRAREERELEMNI B
MES 2 mk -

Price risk is the risk that changes in equity
prices would affect the Group’s income
and the value of its holdings of equities.

EREARSRAEREBHYEREENR
ARFREE 2R -
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TERRRTEERZE

Mitigating actions

REBER

e Continuously monitor the market dynamics and adopt a
conservative approach on investment

o BEEAMBHERFENRTFZIEREFE-

¢ Regularly review forward looking indicators to identify
economic conditions.
o EHIRBIAIEIEIEE  BELEMRR -

e Regularly monitor liquidity and statement of financial
position.

s THERRBES RUBIMAEK -

¢ Maintain appropriate liquidity to cover commitments.

o BB EERDESEMNEAE-

e Limit liquidity risk exposure by investing securities listed on
stock exchanges.

o BRRENEFXDMEM EFRFRBDESRER

e Regularly monitor equity portfolio to address any portfolio
issues promptly.
o THIERRAME  REFR (KR EMAEMRE-

e Spread price risk exposure by investing a number of
equities.
o FRREZBRENMERER-



Principal risks
TERR

Exchange risk
SNE BB

People risk
ANE R

Legal and
regulatory risk
ERREER

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Description
Bt

Exchange risk is the risk that changes in
foreign exchange rates would affect
the Group’s income and the value of its
holdings of assets.
SNER REXE BT BREERARE
SEEEBECAR-

People risk is the risk of loss the services of
any Directors, senior management and
other key personnel could have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s businesses.

ABRRAENES FREBERAME

ZABHBRHAEEEBELEX
M EZ BB -

Legal and regulatory risk is the risk that a
breach of laws and regulations could lead
to litigation, investigations or disputes,
resulting in additional costs on civil and/
or criminal proceedings and reputational
damage being incurred.

FEEREERBREILEE ARG
A AERA S HRERIMER
RRAHBIBELBINRZ BB -

BEEENWR DN

Mitigating actions

R

¢ Closely monitor statement of financial position and cashflow
exchange risk exposures and consider appropriate use of
financial instruments, such as forward exchange contracts,
foreign currency options and forward rate agreements, to hedge
the exchange risk.

o THEEMBIMAKRIRERENERRREZRELREA
REIMNE S £) - HME B ROR BRI R 1R S 0 T A E 4N
Bl Bz o

¢ Provide competitive reward and benefit packages to attract and
retain the employees the Group need.
o REABRFNZBBLEN UK KRB AEEMT &

=

\

¢ Ensure that the staff of the Group has the right working
environment to enable them to do the best job and maximise
their satisfaction at work.

s BRASEEIRAAEIRE APEIRAIRLET
RERIERRSEITEREER

¢ Monitor changes and developments in the regulatory
environment and ensure that sufficient resources being made
available to implement for any compulsory changes.

-%W?Akﬁzﬁﬁﬁﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁWﬁE@ﬁﬂ

e Seek legal or other specialist advice as appropriate.

o SRAEFEMEXER (WEA) -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWR DN

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group is committed to acting in an environmentally
responsible manner in our business operations and promoting
green measures towards environmental protection to our
employees. Our Group adheres to the principle of recycling,
reducing and reusing. Encouraging paper recycling culture,
doubled-sided printing and copying, and encouraging
energy-saving culture by switching off idle lightings and
electrical appliance are implemented by the Group. In order
to enhance environmental sustainability, our Group will review
its environmental practices from time to time and will consider
implementing further eco-friendly measures and practices in the
Group’s business operation.

COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS

During the year, there was no incidence of non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group as far as the Board is aware.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEE,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

As the Group is engaged in investment in listed and unlisted
financial instruments, there are no major customers and suppliers
during the year.

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers, employees and other
stakeholders to meet the Group’s immediate and long-term
goals. Although there are no major customers and suppliers
during the year the Company creates a framework for motivating
staff and a formal communication channel in order to maintain
healthy relationships with its employees and other stakeholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS

The Group’s net asset value is a key indicator of the financial
performance and it decreased to approximately HK$297,031,000
as at 31 December 2019 (as at 31 December 2018:
HK$388,325,000). During the year ended 31 December 2019,
the Group suffered from a loss of approximately HK$91,295,000,
mainly because of the loss arising in change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss amounting to
approximately HK$77,633,000.

The net asset value per share was HK$0.42, which was
calculated on the above net assets value and 700,333,925
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in issue as at 31 December
2019.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEZEHN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Mung Kin Keung (“Mr. Mung”), aged 59, was appointed
as an executive Director on 9 March 2007. He is also a director
of various subsidiaries of the Company. He holds a Conferment
of Honorary Doctoral Degree from Sinte Gleska University of
California. In November 2007, he was awarded the 9th World
Outstanding Chinese Award by the World Chinese Business
Investment Foundation. He has extensive experience in areas of
business management, strategic planning and development.

Mr. Mung was appointed as an executive director of Global
Mastermind Holdings Limited (“GMHL”", stock code: 8063), a
company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, on 19 June
2014.

On 20 February 2019, Mr. Mung was re-appointed as an
executive director and co-chairman of the board of CWT
International Limited (“CWT”, stock code: 521), a company listed
on the Main Board of Stock Exchange and resigned all positions
with effect from 28 June 2019. He was appointed as an executive
director of the board of CWT on 16 February 2009 and re-
designated as the vice-chairman of CWT on 10 May 2010 and
24 October 2013 respectively. He has resigned as an executive
director and the co-chairman of CWT on 2 June 2015.

From 1 February 2018 to 3 August 2018, Mr. Mung was
appointed as the vice chairman of the board and an executive
director of Tysan Holdings Limited (formerly known as Hong Kong
International Construction Investment Management Group Co.,
Limited, stock code: 687), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, he did not hold any directorships in any
other listed public companies in the last three years and does not
hold any other position with the Company or other members of
the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (CONTINUED)

Mr. Mung is the father of Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan, an executive
Director and the chief executive officer of the Company. As
at the date of this report, Mr. Mung was directly interested in
53,696,000 shares of the Company, representing approximately
7.67% of the issued share capital of the Company. China Tian
Di Xing Logistics Holdings Limited is interested in 104,858,000
shares of the Company, representing approximately 14.97% of
the issued share capital of the Company, which is owned as to
99.99% by Mr. Mung.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Mung does not have any
relationship with any Directors, senior management or substantial
or controlling shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan (“Mr. Alan Mung”), formerly known as
Mung Chiu Yu, Alan, aged 33, was an executive Director during
the period from 12 November 2010 to 3 April 2013 and was re-
appointed as an executive Director on 31 March 2014 and the
chief executive officer of the Company on 9 February 2015. He is
also a director of various subsidiaries of the Company. He holds
a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Business Economics from University
of California-Santa Barbara and a Master Degree in Finance
from Peking University. He has extensive working experience in
investment and asset management.

Mr. Alan Mung was appointed as an executive director of GMHL
on 24 March 2014.

Mr. Alan Mung was re-appointed as a non-executive director of
CWT on 5 September 2017 and has resigned with effect from 25
November 2019. He was an executive director of CWT during the
period from 24 October 2013 to 6 February 2015.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEZEHN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (CONTINUED)

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Alan Mung did not hold any
directorship in other listed public companies in the last three years
and does not hold any other position with the Company or other
members of the Group.

Mr. Alan Mung is the son of Mr. Mung, an executive Director
and a substantial shareholder of the Company. As at the date
of this report, Mr. Mung was directly interested in 53,696,000
shares of the Company, representing approximately 7.67% of
the issued share capital of the Company. China Tian Di Xing
Logistics Holdings Limited is interested in 104,858,000 shares of
the Company, representing approximately 14.97% of the issued
share capital of the Company, which is owned as to 99.99% by
Mr. Mung.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Alan Mung does not have any
relationship with any Directors, senior management or substantial
or controlling shareholder of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fung Wai Ching, aged 50, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 10 October 2014. He is
presently an owner of a printing company in Hong Kong. He has
over 18 years of experience in managing paper, packaging and
printing industries in both China and Hong Kong markets.

He was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
GMHL on 23 June 2014,

Save as aforesaid, he did not hold any directorship in other listed
public companies in the last three years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Lei Seng Fat (“Mr. Lei”), aged 69, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 18 April 2017. He has
27 years of management experience in Macau banking industry.
Prior to his retirement in 2014, he was a consultant in Cash
Management Department of Industrial and Commercial Bank
of China (Macau) Limited. He is currently the general manager
of a private company in Macau, which is engaged in trading of
furniture.

Mr. Lei was appointed as a sales director of Shane Global Holding
Inc. (Stock Code: 8482), a company listed on the Taiwan Stock
Exchange, on 15 August 2018.

Mr. Lei was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of Man Sang International Limited (stock code: 938), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, on 12 July 2016
and resigned on 5 November 2018.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lei did not hold any directorships in
any other listed public companies in the last three years.

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy (“Mr. Poon”), aged 55, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 10 October
2014. He was graduated from Lingnan College (now known as
Lingnan University) with an Honours Diploma in Accountancy and
obtained his Master of Science degree in E-Commerce from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He is currently
a proprietor of a certified public accountant practice. He had
worked for various international accounting firms, corporation and
consultant company in Hong Kong. He has working experience
which covered audit and assurance, internal controls, accounting
and information technology.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Poon did not hold any directorship
in other listed public companies in the last three years.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

The Directors present their report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The principal activity of the Company is to act as an investment
holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are
set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. The
Group principally invests in listed and unlisted companies mainly
in Hong Kong, Singapore, the United States, and Canada.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s business review, discussion and analysis of the
development, operating performance and financial position
and particulars of important events affecting the Group that
have occurred since the end of the year ended 31 December
2019 are set out in sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Financial Summary”
on pages 4 to 5, pages 6 to 21 and page 184 respectively. Such
discussions constitute an integral part of this report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December, 2019
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on page 68 of this report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are
set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus account of the Company is available for
distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a
dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(@ itis, or would after payment be, unable to pay it liabilities as
they become due; or

(b)  the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than
the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and
share premium.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to shareholders as at 31 December 2019 including
contributed surplus amounted to approximately HK$80,572,000
(as at 31 December 2018: HK$173,825,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group and the Company are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws and there is no restriction against such right under the
laws of the Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the
Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date
of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Mung Kin Keung (Chairman)
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Fung Wai Ching

Mr. Lei Seng Fat

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy

The term of office of each Director are subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the Company’s bye-laws (the “Bye-
laws”).

In accordance with Bye-law 84(1) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Mung Bun
Man, Alan and Mr. Lei Seng Fat, will retire from office of Director
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company (the “AGM”) and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM.

All other remaining Director shall continue in office.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service
contract which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Excellent Mind Investments Limited, which is owned as to 60%
to Mr. Mung Kin Keung and 40% as to Mr. Mung Bun Man,
Alan, both of them are executive director of the Company, was
a substantial shareholder of the Global Mastermind Holdings
Limited (“GMHL”).

Hope Master Investments Limited (“Hope Master”) and Famous
Flamingo Limited (“Famous Flamingo”) were indirect wholly-
owned subsidiaries of GMHL.

On 12 October 2018, Hope Master and Famous Flamingo,
as landlords, entered into two tenancy agreements with the
Company, as tenant, for a term of three years with monthly rent
of HK$198,480 and HK$112,000 respectively, from 15 October
2018 to 14 October 2021. During the year ended 31 December
2019, the Company paid lease payments in an aggregate amount
of HK$3,726,000 to Hope Master Hope and Famous Flamingo
(31 December 2018: HK$791,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group paid
commission and other handling charge of approximately
HK$6,000 (31 December 2018: HK$91,000) to Global
Mastermind Securities Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
GMHL.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group received
managerial and administrative service income with the amount of
approximately HK$146,000 (31 December 2018: HK$137,000)
from GMHL.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of
the Directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFQ”)) which were notified to the Company and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were deemed or taken
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were
required to be and were recorded in the register required to
be kept pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) in the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (CONTINUED)

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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EERFETBAERARTAREM
MEBOEE 2 R0 HERORESA
ZEBERARE (&)

RARR B R EERS 2 #m

Percentage

of total

issued shares

as at

31 December

2019

RZB-hf

Total +=A=+-H
interests (B RTRA
ERAE #Agzasht

(Note 4)

(Hiit4)

53,696,000 7.67%
104,858,000 14.97%
581,802 0.08%

1 ZERMTIARFTE 2 BHEEM

Company
Number
of share
options held
Number of shares held iigs3
FEROHE BREHE
Personal Corporate Personal
Name of Director Capacity interests interests interests
Bspg &t fEA R EERER BARS
Mung Kin Keung Bengficial owner 53,696,000 - -
BHAEA
FEHE Interest in controlled - 104,858,000 -
corporation
RRAHEE ER
Bengficial owner - - 581,802
EafiBA
Notes: Wit
1 These shares were registered in the name of Mr. Mung.

These shares were registered in the name of and were beneficially
owned by China Tian Di Xing Logistics Holdings Limited (“TDX”), a
company in which Mr. Mung, an executive Director and the chairman
of the Company, holds 99.99% equity interests and Ms. Sin Lai Ni,
spouse of Mr. Mung holds 0.01% equity interest. Therefore, Mr. Mung
is deemed to have an interest in the shares in which TDX is interested.

These represented the share options granted by the Company to the
respective Directors, the details of which are provided in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” in this report.

The percentage is calculated on the basis of 700,333,925 shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 December 2019.

Notes

it

ZERAD Ty AR BRI ITYIRIEREEER AR
(IRFT] —MARFRTESETRIEREE
FHE9.99%KRERREEZ B EBELLHE
001%EEL AR 2 EHEME AL EDHER -
Fit REEBRIEEARSRRIBITHRA D Z

Pt -

BARRARTSEFT AR BRFBEHNAR
= [FERRHERT 8] — & o

ZEALTNERARTRZE-—NF+ZA=+—

H 2 317700,333,9250% & fp Mt & o

BRABREBRAT | 2019F K

31



32

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in
note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

The particulars of movement of the share options
outstanding during the year are as follows:

BikEsE

BRARNRRBRETEZFBTHNEE
KM E27 o

B 7% 3R

RER HRITEZBREZSEFFW
N

Balance as at Balance as at
Date of grant of Expiry date of Exercise price 1 January 31 December
Grantees share option share options per share 2019 2019
RZZ-hf RZB-1F
REA BRERLAH BRERERBH BRTEE —-B—B#&#% T-A=t+-HE&#
No. of No. of
HK$ share options share options
BT BREHE BREHA
Director
gz
Mung Kin Keung 15.4.2011 14.04.2021 9,748 581,802 581,802
B2
Other grantees in aggregate 16.4.2011 14.04.2021 9,748 318,606 318,606
RfeRgARR . _____________
900,408 900,408

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide participants with the
opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company and
to encourage participants to work towards enhancing the value of
the Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole.

The eligible participants are (a) any full-time employees, Director
(including any non-executive Director or independent non-
executive Director) and part-time employee with weekly working
hours of 15 hours or above of the Group; (b) any adviser or
consultant (in the areas of financial or corporate managerial)
to the Group; and (c) any adviser, consultant, agent, business
affiliate or any person or entity who provides research or other
support direct or indirectly to the Group, and any employee,
adviser or consultant to the investment management company
for the Group, who, at the sole determination of the Board, has
contributed to the Group. The assessment criteria of which are (j)
such person’s contribution to the development and performance
of the Group; (i) the quality of work performed by such person for
the Group directly or indirectly; (iii) the initiative and commitment
of such person in performing his or her duties; and (iv) the length
of service or contribution of such person to the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

On 15 April 2011, the Company granted 144,000,000 share
options to the grantees under the New Scheme at the exercise
price of HK$0.27 each. The share options are exercisable for the
period from 15 April 2011 to 14 April 2021 (both dates inclusive).

The grant of 21,000,000 share options to Mr. Mung was
approved by the independent shareholders of the Company at an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 15 June
2011.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, no share option was
granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the period was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER'’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2019, so far as is known to the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company, and based on the
public records filed on the website of the Stock Exchange and
records kept by the Company, the interest and short positions
of the persons or corporations (other than the Directors and
chief executive of the Company) in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or
were directly or indirectly, interest in 5% or more of the nominal
value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of the Company or any other
members of the Group were as follows:
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER'’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

Long position in ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
of the Company

Capacity/
Name of shareholder Nature of interests
BRREMHE 5/ REME
China Healthwise Holdings Limited Beneficial Owner
FEE B RIEIR B R A A EnBEEA

The percentage is calculated on the basis of 700,333,925 shares
of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2019.

OTHER INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER
THE SFO

Save as disclosed above, so far as is known to the Directors,
there is no other person who has an interest or short position
in the shares and underlying shares that is discloseable under
Section 336 of the SFO.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”). Under the Dividend Policy, the Company does not
have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. The declaration,
payment and amount of dividends are subject to the Board’s
discretion having regard to the following factors:

(@ the earnings, financial condition, capital requirements and
future plans of the Group;

(o)  the Shareholders’ interests;
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DIVIDEND POLICY (CONTINUED)

(c) the economic outlook;

(d) the contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by
the Company to the Shareholders;

(e) the statutory and regulatory restrictions on the payment of
dividends by the Company; and

()  any other factors the Board may consider relevant.

The Board shall review the Company’s dividend policy from time
to time and may take any amendments that it deems necessary
or desirable.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has complied with the requirements under Rules
3.10(1), 8.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Company has
received confirmation of independence from all 3 INEDs, namely
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy, Mr. Fung Wai Ching and Mr. Lei Seng Fat
in accordance with Rules 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has reviewed the independence of all INEDs and
concluded that all of them are independent within the definition
of the Listing Rules. Furthermore, the Board is not aware of the
occurrence of any events which would cause it to believe that the
independence of any of the INED has been impaired up to the
date of this report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

On the basis of information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors at the date
of this report, the Company has complied with the public float
requirement of the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31
December 2019.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

BE R (&
(© HEEASR:

(d) ARBRBERIKMNSEZE KBRS
@ ARBERNBEEZEEMEERR: K

 EFSAUERSBAREITMEBRE-

EE2RTHRAIARRZBEBER - WA gk
MEBRLBREE 2 ERMER -

BYFBTES BN

RNAalBEF EmARIZES.101)3.1002) &
BI0AKZIRTE ARAIEEEEEIBE LI
WMITEE (AEERALEE - BHELEREX
ELEE)RE ETRREI MG L 2B
TR o

EXgCERERBUIFNTEENE I
VTRRBREDBE EHHRRAREZBLAL
N BEARERH EFSXTNEDH
EAERIEIE  BUE B ARG EA — (8 FERTT
EE2BEYERE-

NWERE

WEARRAIAHESZEMMBEEEN AR
FHMMAAE ARRRBEE-T-—NAF+=
A=+ —BLEEBREFEADSETLELHRUZA

DR ERTE °

BRABREBRAT | 2019F K



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2019, none of the Directors, substantial
shareholders of the Company nor any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a
business which causes or may cause competes or may cause
any significant competition with the business of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year under review, no management and administrative
contracts regarding the entire or any major businesses of the
Company have been entered into or have existed.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group provides a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance to all
staff. Under the MPF Scheme, employer and employees are each
required to make mandatory contributions to the MPF Scheme
and contributions to the MPF Scheme vested immediately.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group did not make any charitable donations
(2018: Nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Since early 2020, the epidemic of coronavirus disease 2019
(the “COVID-19”) has spread across the globe and it may affect
the business and economic activities of the Group. Pending
development of COVID-19, the Group’s financial results and
financial position may be affected and the financial effect, except
for fair value change of certain listed investments disclosed
in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements, cannot
be reasonably estimated at the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements. The Group will closely monitor
the development of the COVID-19 and continue to evaluate its
impact on the business, the financial position and operating
results of the Group.
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AUDITORS % B Em

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended BEetmEREMmAERAR (TBHE])EFEZ
31 December 2019 have been audited by HLB Hodgson HE_Z—NEF+A=1+—"HLEFEZHESE
Impey Cheng Limited (“‘HLB") who will retire and, being eligible, MHBRR - BEBEETASEREBIE —18
offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the ERBEEEAARNRZE 2 AEZRZEN K
re-appointment of HLB as auditors of the Company is to be ~ HREF K& FERZ -

proposed at the AGM.

By order of the Board REEGD

Mung Kin Keung EF

Director E3L]

Hong Kong, 27 March 2020 BEAE —TTF=A=-+T+tH
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Company is dedicated to maintain a credible framework
of corporate governance with a view to being transparent,
open and accountable to the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles and adopted code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) as its own code on
corporate governance practices. The current practices will be
reviewed and updated regularly to follow the latest practices in
corporate governance.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with the
code provisions of the CG Code during the year, except for the
following deviations:

- The code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code states that non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election.

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy, the INED, is not appointed for
a specific term but is subject to retirement from office by
rotation and re-election at least once every three years
in accordance with the Bye-laws. As such, the Board
considers that such provision is sufficient to meet the
underlying objective of this code provision.

Each INED has, pursuant to the guidelines set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, confirmed he is independent
of the Company and the Company also considers that they
are independent. The term of office of each INED is not
more than three years from date of appointment subject
to the requirement that one-third of all the directors shall
retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting
pursuant to the Bye-laws.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
(CONTINUED)

The code provision D.1.4 of the CG Code provides that
issuers should have formal letters of appointment for
directors setting out the key terms and conditions of their
appointment. The Company did not have formal letters of
appointment for Directors (except Mr. Mung Kin Keung,
Mr. Lei Seng Fat and Mr. Fung Wai Ching). However,
the Directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Bye-laws. In any event, all Directors,
including those without a letter of appointment, must retire
by rotation in the manner prescribed under the Bye-laws,
and on re-election of the retiring Directors, shareholders
of the Company are given information that is reasonably
necessary for them to make an informed decision on the
reappointment of the relevant Directors. In addition, the
Directors are required to refer to the guidelines set out in
“A Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued by the Companies
Registry and “Guidelines for Directors” and “Guide for
Independent Non-executive Directors” (if applicable)
published by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in
performing their duties and responsibilities as Directors.
Besides, the Directors are required to comply with the
requirements under statue and common law, the Listing
Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the
Company’s business and governance policies.

The code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code states that the
chairman of the Board should attend the annual general
meeting of the Company.

Due to other business commitment, the chairman of the
Board (the “Chairman”), Mr. Mung Kin Keung, was unable
to attend the annual general meeting held on 13 June 2019
(the “2019 AGM”). However, arrangements including the
attendance of another member of the Board had been in
place to ensure the 2019 AGM was in order.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange
as the code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company
by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, upon specific
enquiries made by the Company, that they have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code during the year
ended 31 December 2019. To ensure Directors’ dealings in the
securities of the Company (the “Securities”) are conducted in
accordance with the Model Code, a Director is required to notify
designated executive directors in writing and obtain a written
acknowledgement from the designated executive directors prior
to any dealings the Securities.

THE BOARD

The Board currently consists of two executive Directors and three
INEDs.

Composition

Executive Directors:
Mr. Mung Kin Keung (Chairman)
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Fung Wai Ching

Mr. Lei Seng Fat

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy

The number of INEDs is 60% of the Board membership. One
INED have the appropriate professional accounting experience
and expertise. The Board has a balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.
The names and biographical details of each Director are disclosed
on pages 22 to 25 of this Annual Report. Mr. Mung Kin Keung is
the father of Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan. Saved as disclosed, there
is no other relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship) among the Board members.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Roles and functions of the Board and the
management

The Board is responsible both for how the Company is managed
and the Company’s direction. Approval of the Board is required
for the strategy of the Group, major acquisition and disposal,
major capital investment, dividend policy, appointment and
retirement of Directors, remuneration policy and other major
operational and financial matters. In addition, the Board has
also delegated various responsibilities to the audit committee
(the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the investment committee
(“Investment Committee”) of the Company. Further details of
these committees are set out in this report.

During the year, the management had provided all members
of the Board with monthly updates giving a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company’s performance and
position to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to
discharge their duties under the Listing Rules.

During scheduled meetings of the Board, the Board discusses
and formulates the overall strategies of the Group, monitors
financial performances and discusses the annual and interim
results, as well as discusses and decides on other significant
matters.

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties as required under the CG Code. The major
roles and functions of the Board in respect of the corporate
governance are:

- to develop and review the Company’s policy and practices
on corporate governance;

- to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

- to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXEBRSE

THE BOARD (CONTINUED) EEg(£E)

Roles and functions of the Board and the EZS2REEE>ACRBEE (&)
management (Continued)

- to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and — HE R AERERAREIRESRZIT
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors; &R &/m\ R &
and

- toreview the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and — BAARTHPEEARTAZETBERR
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report. TEERRECEEEE-

The Board had considered the following corporate governance @~ ®H @B —_Z— N FHHRFEEHZA N E

matters for the financial year 2019: EREIE .

- review of the compliance with the CG Code; and — BRETCEEARATAZETEBEL K

- review of the effectiveness of the internal controls and risk — FBRBZRZESRIARFAIIES LE
management systems of the Company through the Audit REBRG 2B
Committee.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ ARBIEREZEEREREBAELHRES
liabilities insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the W EEZERSHEIEASETRE -
Company.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Roles and functions of the Board and the
management (Continued)

The Board held 9 scheduled Board meetings during the year
2019. Due notice and board papers were given to all Directors
prior to the meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and
the CG Code. The Company Secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”) assists the Chairman in drawing up the
agenda of each Board meeting and each Director may request
inclusion of matters in the agenda. Generally, at least 14-day
notice of a regular Board meeting is given and the Company
aims at giving reasonable notice for all other Board meetings.
The Company Secretary is responsible for taking minutes of
Board meetings and Board committee meetings. Minutes of
Board meetings and Board committees meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary and are open for inspection by any Director/
committee member. Details of individual attendance of Directors
are set out below:

Attendance of individual Directors at board
meetings in 2019
Number of meetings 9
Executive Directors:

Mr. Mung Kin Keung 9/9
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan 9/9

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Fung Wai Ching 9/9
Mr. Lei Seng Fat 9/9
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy 9/9

The Board has established procedures to enable Directors, upon
reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Directors’ training and professional development

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. Directors are
continually updated on the latest development of the Listing
Rules and other regulatory requirements to ensure compliance
and upkeep of good corporate governance practice. Directors
are also encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

The Company had received record of trainings from each Director
relating to development and refreshment of their knowledge and
skills. The participation by individual Directors in the continuous
professional development is recorded in the table below:

Executive Directors: HITES:

Mr. Mung Kin Keung REREE

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan EmXEE
Independent Non-executive Directors: B EHTESE:
Mr. Fung Wai Ching KSHEIE SR A

Mr. Lei Sang Fat FEOESLE

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy EERLE

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of chairman and chief executive officer are separate
and are not held by the same individual exercised by different
individuals to ensure their independence, accountability and
responsibility. Mr. Mung Kin Keung is the chairman of the
Company. Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan is the chief executive officer
of the Company. The chairman provides leadership for the Board
and the direction of the Group. The chief executive officer has
overall chief executive responsibility for the Group’s business
development.

During the year, the chairman of the Company met with the INEDs
without the presence of the executive Directors.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Appointment and re-election of Directors

Appointment of new Directors is a matter for consideration by the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will review
the profiles of the candidates and make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, nomination and retirement of
Directors.

According to the Bye-laws, any Director so appointed by the
Board shall hold office, in the case of filing a casual vacancy, only
until the next following general meeting of the Company or, in the
case of an addition to their number, until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company who shall then be eligible for
re-election at such general meeting. Every Director is subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Non-executive Directors

Except for Mr. Poon Woi Hai, Percy, all the non-executive
Directors (including INEDs) have each signed a letter of
appointment with the Company and have appointed for an initial
term of one year commencing from the date of the letter of
appointment unless terminated in accordance with the terms of
the letter of appointment.

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy, is not appointed for specific term but
subject to the requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting of the
Company pursuant to the Bye-laws.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance its
expertise, there are three Board committees namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee formed under the Board, with each performing
different functions. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee are available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. In addition, following the expiration of the
investment management agreement entered into between the
investment manager and the Company on 30 June 2014. On
4 August 2014, an Investment Committee has been established
to assist the Board in overseeing the Company’s investment
strategy and policies, and the establishment and working of
internal control at the operational levels and ensure compliance
with investment restrictions.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has been established with written terms
of reference and currently comprises three INEDs. The Audit
Committee is chaired by an INED with appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. The current members of the Audit Committee are
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy (Chairman), Mr. Lei Seng Fat and
Mr. Fung Wai Ching.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee include:

- to serve as a focal point for communication between other
directors and the auditors in respect of the duties relating to
financial and other reporting, internal controls, audits, and
such other matters as the Board may determine from time
to time;

- to review the appointment of auditors on an annual basis
including the review of the audit scope and approval of the
audit fees;

- to review the annual and interim financial statements prior to
their approval by the Board, and recommend application of
accounting policies and changes to the financial reporting
requirements;

- to review the auditor’s management letters (if any) and
management’s responses; and

- to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibility by providing
an independent review and supervision of financial
reporting, by satisfying themselves as to the effectiveness of
the internal controls and risk management of the Group and
the adequacy of the audits.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Set out below is the major work performed by the Audit
Committee during the year included, among other things, the

following:

- to review the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2019 and for the six months ended

30 June 2019;

- to review the effectiveness of the internal controls system

and risk management; and

- to review and discuss with the external auditor over the

financial reporting of the Company.

The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the year. Details of
individual attendance of its members are set out below:

Attendance of individual members at Audit

Committee meetings in 2019

Number of meetings

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy (Committee Chairrman)
Mr. Fung Wai Ching

Mr. Lei Seng Fat

3/3
3/3
3/3
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ERERBE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference, comprising three INEDs and the
Chairman, which meets at least once a year.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
include:

- formulation of the remuneration policy, reviewing and
recommending to the Board the annual remuneration
policy;

- ensuring no Director is involved in deciding his own
remuneration; and

- to consider of the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Group.

The Remuneration Committee held 3 meetings during the year.
Details of individual attendance of its members are set out below:

Attendance of individual members at Remuneration
Committee meeting in 2019

Number of meetings 3

Executive Director
Mr. Mung Kin Keung 3/3

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fung Wai Ching (Committee Chairman) 3/3
Mr. Lei Seng Fat 3/3
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy 3/3
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference, comprising three INEDs and the
Chairman, which meets at least once a year.

The major roles and functions of the Nomination Committee
include:

to review the structure, size and composition of the Board;
to assess the independence of INEDs;

recommend to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection;

to review the policy on Board diversity (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) and any measurable objectives for implementing
such Board Diversity Policy and to review the progress on
achieving the objectives; and

where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual
as an Independent Non-executive Director at the general
meeting, it should set out whenever elect an individual as
an INED (i) the process used for identifying the individual
and why the Board believes the individual and the reasons
why it considers the individual to be independent; (ii) if
the proposed Independent Non-executive Director will be
holding their seventh (or more) listed company directorship,
why the Board believes the individual would still be able to
devote sufficient time to the Board; (iii) the perspectives,
skills and experience that the individual can bring to the
Board; and (iv) how the individual contributes to diversity of
the Board in the circular to shareholders and/or explanatory
statement accompanying the notice of the relevant general
meeting.
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ERERBE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

In considering the nomination of a new Director, the Nomination
Committee will take into account the qualification, ability, working
experience, leadership and professional ethics of the candidates.
In determining the independence of Directors, the Board follows
the requirements set out in the Listing Rules. According to
the Bye-laws, the Board has the power from time to time and
at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board subject to the
recommendation of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during the year.
Details of individual attendance of its members are set out below:

Attendance of individual members at Nomination
Committee meeting in 2019

Number of meetings 1

Executive Director
Mr. Mung Kin Keung 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fung Wai Ching 11
Mr. Lei Seng Fat (Committee Chairman) 11
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy 1/1
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Investment Committee with
written terms of reference, comprising two executive Directors
and the financial controller of the Company.

The major roles and functions of the Investment Committee
include:

- to review, monitor, manage and control the existing
investments;

- to seek, identify, explore, evaluate and appraise potential
investments and performing those necessary due diligence
exercises; and

- to report to the Board, illustrating its work undertaken.

The Investment Committee held 12 meetings during the year.
Details of individual attendance of its members are set out below:

Attendance of individual members at Investment
Committee meeting in 2019

Number of meetings 12

Executive Director

Mr. Mung Kin Keung (Committee Chairman) 12/12
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan 12/12
Financial Controller of the Company

Mr. Wong Siu Hang 12/12
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EREARE

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the Company is to ensure that all
employees, including all Directors, are sufficiently compensated
for their efforts and time dedicated to the Company and
remuneration offered is appropriate for their duties and in line
with market practice. No Director, or any of his associates, and
executive is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

The executive Directors are closely involved in and are directly
responsible for all activities of the Group. The Board considers
that the senior management comprises the executive Directors.

Particulars regarding senior management and other Directors’
remuneration and the five highest paid employees as required to
be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set
out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

Senior Management’s Remuneration

The remuneration paid to each of the senior management for the
year fell within the following bands:

BN UK
ARARZHMBRSEAREEES (BREER
BR8N REARARAZEREEI R
MEE mMARE 2 H MR EREBA A I
EMSEY B - EFHETMBEA LR
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WTEFHEG2ENERABEAKREZMAR
B-EEgRRAEEERRRTES-

R EMRAMEI6ATREABSREERE
LREMEEFMEAERSHFMER 2FBEH
RERB M mRME

N EE fE i
A& = A& 38 8 ST AN 2 o B DA T ARl -

il

LI
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Nil - HK$500,000

HK$500,001 — HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000

Z £500,0007% 7T

500,001 7T 21,000,000/ 7T
1,000,001 7T £ 1,500,000/ 7T
1,500,001 7T 22,000,000/ 7T
2,000,0017% 7T £2,500,000/% 7T
2,500,001;% 7T 23,000,000/ 7T
3,000,0017% 7T £3,500,000/% 7T
3,500,0017% 7T £4,000,0007% 7T
4,000,001 7T £4,500,000/% 7T

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the
objectives and principle regarding board diversity for the benefits
of achieving the Company’s strategic objectives with a view of
having a balanced diversity of both skills and experience and
of perspective. Board appointments will be based on merit and
candidates will be considered against measurable objectives,
taking into account the Company’s business and needs.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (CONTINUED)

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
criteria, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, knowledge, professional experience
and skills. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and the
contribution that the selected candidates may bring to the Board.

The Directors will consider and review the diversity of the Board
and to set up, if appropriate, measureable objectives according to
the Company’s own business model and specific needs.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Board by ensuring
good information flow within the Board and that board policy
and procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is also
responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman on
corporate governance and the implementation of the CG Code.
The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and has
day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs.

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer. All Directors also have access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that all
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed. The selection,
appointment and dismissal of the Company Secretary is subject
to the Board approval.

The Company Secretary has confirmed that he has taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, total fees paid/payable to HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited, the Company’s auditors amounted to
approximately HK$400,000 and HK$110,000 respectively for
audit service, and other non-audit services provided by the
auditors of the Company during the year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company and reviewing their
effectiveness. The Board oversees the overall risk management
of the Group and endeavors to identify risks, control impact of
the identified risks and facilitate implementation of coordinated
mitigating measures.

During the year, the Company has adopted and reviewed the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management
procedures which include the policies, procedures, monitoring
and communication activities and standard of behaviour
established for safeguarding the interests of the shareholders
of the Company. The risk management and internal control
systems of the Company aim to help achieving the Group’s
business objectives, safeguarding assets and maintaining proper
accounting records for provision of reliable financial information.
However, the design of the systems is to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement in the
financial statements or loss of assets and to manage, rather than
eliminate, the risks of failure when business objectives are being
sought.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarized as follows:

Risk Identification

° Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group’s
business and operations.

Risk Assessment

o Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment
criteria developed by the management; and

° Considers the impact and consequence on the business
and the likelihood of their occurrence.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

Risk Response

° Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

° Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

° Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place;

o Revises the risk management strategies and internal control
processes in case of any significant change of situation; and

o Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management
and the Board regularly.

The Company does not have an internal audit function and is
currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an
internal audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature
and complexity of the Group’s business. It was decided that the
Board would be directly responsible for internal control of the
Group and for reviewing its effectiveness during the year.

The Group has engaged Absolute Value Business & Asset
Valuation Limited as its risk management and internal control
review adviser (“the Adviser”) to conduct the annual review of the
risk management and internal control systems for the year ended
31 December 2019. Such review is conducted annually and the
cycles to be reviewed are under rotation basis. The scope of
review was previously determined and approved by the Board.
The Adviser has reported findings and areas for improvement
to the Audit Committee and management of the Company. The
Board and Audit Committee are of the view that there are no
material internal control deficiencies noted. All recommendations
from the Adviser will be properly followed up by the Group to
ensure that they are implemented within a reasonable period of
time.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

Risk Monitoring and Reporting (Continued)

The Company has a policy to assess the likely impact of any
unexpected and significant event that may impact the price of the
shares or their trading volume and to decide whether the relevant
information is considered as inside information that needs to be
disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable pursuant to Rules
13.09 and 183.10 of the Listing Rules and the Inside Information
Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO.

Based on its assessment which covers all material controls
including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions, the Board believes that for the year
ended 31 December 2019, the Company’s internal control
and risk management systems are effective and adequate. The
Board is satisfied that there are adequate resources of staff with
appropriate qualifications and experience in its accounting and
financial reporting team and that sufficient training and budget
have been provided.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company had established a shareholders’ communication
policy and shall review it on a periodic basis to ensure its
effectiveness.

The Company uses a range of communication tools to ensure its
Shareholders are kept well informed of key business imperatives.
These include annual general meeting, annual report, various
notices, announcements and circulars. The Company has also
maintained a corporate website which enables Shareholders,
investors and the public to receive timely and updated information
on the Company.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings
for such substantial issues, including the re-election of retiring
Directors.

The Company’s notices to Shareholders for the 2019 AGM were

sent to Shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the
meeting.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(CONTINUED)

An executive Director, chairman/members of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee and the representative of external auditor were
available at the 2019 AGM to answer questions from the
Shareholders. The chairman of the 2019 AGM had explained
the procedures for conducting a poll during the meeting. All
resolutions proposed at the 2019 AGM were voted separately by
way of poll. All the votes cast at the said meeting were properly
counted and recorded.
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Attendance of individual Directors at the Annual Z—ZE—hWERFRBAFASEBNESHER
General Meeting in 2019

Attendance

HER

Executive Directors: HITEE:
Mr. Mung Kin Keung B X
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan SmX kAt v
Independent Non-executive Directors: BYFHITES:
Mr. Fung Wai Ching FSHEIE SR v
Mr. Lei Seng Fat BRORSE v
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy EERSAE v
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS B% R AEF

Procedures for requisitioning an special general
meeting and for putting forward proposals at
general meetings

Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
may, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary
signed and deposited in accordance with the bye-law 58 of the
Bye-laws, require a general meeting to be called by the Directors
for the transaction of any business specified in the requisition.
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ERERBE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

Procedures for requisitioning an special general
meeting and for putting forward proposals at
general meetings (Continued)

A special general meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition. If the Board does not within
twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the requisition
proceed duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists, or any of
them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the date of deposit of the requisition.

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company,
a Shareholder should lodge a written request, duly signed by
the Shareholder concerned, setting out the proposals at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Board and the Company Secretary. The request
will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrars in
Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the request is proper
and in order, the Company Secretary will pass the request to the
Board. Whether a proposal will be put to a general meeting will be
decided by the Board in its discretion.

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as Director is posted on the Company’s website at
www.irasia.com/listco/hk/mastermindcap/.

Shareholders’ enquiries

General meetings of the Company provide a direct forum
of communication between Shareholders and the Board.
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries in writing to the
Board through the Company Secretary at the principal place of
business in Hong Kong.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

Procedures for requisitioning an special general
meeting and for putting forward proposals at
general meetings (Continued)

The Company Secretary shall forward the Shareholders’ enquiries
to the Board, where appropriate to answer the Shareholders’
questions.

In addition, Shareholders can contact Tricor Secretaries Limited,
the share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong, if they have any
enquiries about their shareholdings, share registration and related
matters.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
PREPARING THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in
preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Company.
The statement of the auditors about their reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 60 to 67.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
BYZHERE

HLB

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS OF GLOBAL MASTERMIND CAPITAL
LIMITED

(originally incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in
Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Global Mastermind Capital Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 68 to 183, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group at
31 December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Audlitors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matter

BEETEER

B 2B RS

RRETEER

REFFEEREAMNEXRHE LY
BB AN ESAMBERREA/EZNE
B ERTHEEUMBAERBREMBERE
REABREETRE R TSHELER
REEBNER -

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BN ESTNAEEARETEE

Classification and fair value measurement on financial assets

BRUBEEZDBER L FHETE

Refer to notes 19 and 33 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

D N2 R B SR A M i 1933 »

At 31 December 2019, the Group holds listed equity
and debt securities, unlisted equity securities and
unlisted investment funds with the carrying amounts of
approximately HK$251,922,000, HK$41,338,000 and
HK$23,159,000 respectively.

RZFE-NF+_RA=+—H ' EBESEBELTRAKE
BEF ELTRAZTSRFLTREES REED L
£251,922,0007%8 7T * 41,338,0007% 7T & 23,159,000/% It °

Our audit procedures in relation to the
classification and fair value measurement of
the Group’s portfolio of listed equity and debt
securities, unlisted equity securities and unlisted
investment funds included, but were not limited
to:

EEM EEEZ FRARER FLTR
ABHFRIELTREESBEEZHERATE
FFEMER BT EFBREETRER

o assessing management’s evaluation in
relation to the classification of financial
assets based on the Group’s business
model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
BYZHERE

Key audit matter

HREEEE

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BMWETNAEEARETSE

Classification and fair value measurement on financial assets (Continued)

BRUBEEZDBER L FEHE (&)

The valuation of the Group’s suspended listed equity
securities and unlisted equity securities is based on a
combination of market data and different valuation models
which may require to consider numbers of inputs. The
inputs to the valuation techniques used to measured fair
value are classified into 3 levels fair value hierarchy in
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement.
EEEEFLITRAZBSFRIELTRAZBSFZHEDER
MSBERAEEZERE THASE 2 TRMGERE HF
FH-ARAEQATFEZEERMNBAREDIDBRER
MR ERRFIRL FEFTENZE=RATFEER-

The valuation of the suspended listed equity securities
and unlisted equity securities is complex and requires the
application of significant judgment by the management.
i ERAESFMIEETRAZT S 2 HETIEEEM
BEEREBERBEKRHE-
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Our audit procedures in relation to the
classification and fair value measurement of
the Group’s portfolio of listed equity and debt
securities, unlisted equity securities and unlisted
investment funds included, but were not limited
to: (Continued)

EEYN BEEEZETMRARER FELTR
ABHFEFITREESBEEZ OB RATE
AEMRR B EFBREETRR : (&)

o enquiring the management and assessing
the methodologies used in fair value
measurement and the appropriateness
of the key assumptions and parameters
based on our knowledge of the investment
and using our auditor’s valuation expert’s
evaluation;
ENEZFHREBA 2 RBNEREFZ
YR MEERZAE AEEEERA R
E R TEREZMATE  BRERER
2YIBEM:

o checking, on sample basis, the accuracy
and relevance of the input data used by
comparing key underlying financial data
inputs to external sources and investee
companies’ audited financial statements
and management information as
applicable;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Key audit matter

REEEE

B 2B RS

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BMWEFTNAEEARESEE

Classification and fair value measurement on financial assets (Continued)

BRUBEEZDBER L FEHE (&)

The fair values of suspended listed equity securities and
unlisted equity securities were valued by independent
qualified professional valuers.

R EmRAZBHFIELTRAZT SN ATEIHEBELE
BREEGLEMETHE:

The fair values of unlisted investment funds were based on
net asset values as reported by the managers of the funds.
FEMREESZAFEDNERESKBEREZEEFE
B o

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditors’ report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

Our audit procedures in relation to the
classification and fair value measurement of
the Group’s portfolio of listed equity and debt
securities, unlisted equity securities and unlisted
investment funds included, but were not limited
to: (Continued)
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MRAEFRFLTREECEGZHER
AN EFEMRRZBARFEEETRER :
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° evaluating the competence, capabilities
and objectivity of the independent qualified
professional valuers; and
EECEERBEEMEMER B
REEMN: &

° checking the arithmetical accuracy of the
valuation model.

BEHEEN B EEE-

We considered management’s classification and
fair value measurement on financial assets were
supported by the available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
BUZRHBEMKE

OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90
of Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
BUZRHBEMKE

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
BURBEERE

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE MM EBT GRS BEBRRAENS
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 1F(4&)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, HHBEZZEGBERIEED  RPIET UL
we determine those matters that were of most significance in EEH ARGV BRER B RAEE

the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current MK ARENFIE R MR ZEM RS
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these HMELEE RIFEBEATATARAERE
matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes BEER SEBRBFRZBRAT WEIEE
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare HRERMBEPEBESTHENZEMERE
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be  BEAZ ARFZF  BfUEETEERES E
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences BZEH-

of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this HEARBYEEBAIRE ZBABEEEARE

independent auditors’ report is Yu Chi Fat. o

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited HETMELERERAA
Certified Public Accountants HESETED

Yu Chi Fat RE#

Practicing Certificate Number: P05467 HMEBERYS - P05467

Hong Kong, 27 March 2020 B —_TEF=A=++tH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEeRakEMEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-hF —ET-)\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FHExT FHET
Revenue W #5 6 6,028 3,461
Other income H At W 5 7 146 137
Loss arising in change in fair value ~ E@EBE&EEUAFEYIERZ
of financial assets at fair value HEEEAFESHESE
through profit or loss ZEE (77,633) (122,160)
Administrative expenses and other TR X M H 4L &5 X
operating expenses (19,034) (22,362)
Finance costs BhE A AR 8 (802) (299)
Loss before income tax MRATB B AIE B 9 (91,295) (141,223)
Income tax expense R = 12 - -
Loss for the year attributable to 72 B #H A E{L FEEE
owners of the Company (91,295) (141,223)
Other comprehensive income/ Ht2E W~ (EE)
(loss)
Items that may be reclassified H#ZWJEEEH 7 E 2Bk
subsequently to profit or loss: ZHEE
Exchange differences arising on FRBEBINEBEE L
translation of foreign operations EH =5
during the year 1 (1)
Other comprehensive income/ FREMEE
(loss) for the year Wi (E5E) 1 (1)
Total comprehensive loss BATEEANEGREE
for the year attributable to 2HE BB
owners of the Company (91,294) (141,224)
Loss per share BRER 13
Basic and diluted (HK cents) BERREE CEM) (13.04) (20.17)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these BE Bt 2 BfY 5% 4

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

a MR AR R &

At 31 December 2019 R —ZE—NF+-A=+—H

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FET F#E T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENERE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y S KRR 15 3,046 4,431
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 16 6,198 -
Intangible assets EEEE 17 5,785 5,785
15,029 10,216
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments TE B 511 424
Other receivables H 1t i I BR X 2,576 7,401
Deposits paid BEfftEe 1,062 1,069
Amount due from a related JE W — & A& A R 5RIE
company 18 84 330
Financial assets at fair value BB AR
through profit or loss LT EE 19 316,419 361,790
Cash and cash equivalents HekReFHEER 20 3,857 38,500
324,509 409,514
Current liabilities REEE
Accruals and other payables JE &t BR 3 N ELh B A+ BR K 21 26,216 20,586
Amount due to a related company &~ — 8 B8 A B 2008 18 - 920
Lease liabilities HEBE 23 3,481 -
29,697 21,506
Net current assets REBEEFE 294,812 388,008
Total assets less current HEERRBAE
liabilities 309,841 398,224
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e AR R

At 31 December 2019 R=ZE— A F+=-A=+—H

2019 2018
—B-AEF —E-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M5 FET F#E T
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Other financial liability By BasE
— non-convertible bond —NA] B A E 5 24 9,936 9,899
Lease liabilities HEEE 23 2,874 =
12,810 9,899
Net assets EEFE 297,031 388,325
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves RATEEAEGRERR
attributable to owners i
of the Company
Share capital fi& 7% 25 7,003 7,003
Reserves (E] 290,028 381,322
Total equity A 297,031 388,325
Net asset value per share (HK$) BREEFE (FT) 26 0.42 0.55

The consolidated financial statements were approved and HRAEMBERRENR_F_FTF-_A-_+LAK

authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 March 2020 EEEHEREENE TEA PIALRE

and are signed on its behalf by: RE:
Mung Kin Keung Mung Bun Man, Alan
E e BERX
Director Director
BEF BEF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these BERY 2 M iE R TR A MR < R R ©
consolidated financial statements.

Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2019



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mERREHR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FAARBAER
Capital
Share Share  Contribution  Share option Translation  contribution  Accumulated Total
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses equity
B R EE B8RS  BRERE EifRE TERE ZitER ERAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TERL TEL TER TERL TEL TER TERL
(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢) (Note g)

(Hiita) (Hritb) (#ritc) (#itd)

At 1 January 2018 W=E-\¥-A-H 7,003 146,099 646,448 2,665 (@] 45,330 (317,992 529,549
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - (141,223) (141,223)
Other comprehensive loss: Hi2EEE:
Exchange differences arising on REBINEBELL

translating foreign operations EHES - - = = (1) = - (1)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ~ ERZFEFEEE - - - - (1) - (141,229) (141,224)
At 31 December 2018 and at RZZ-\F+=A=1+-A

1 January 2019 k=F-N§-A-H 7,003 146,099 646,448 2,665 () 45,330 (459,215) 388,325
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - (91,205) (91,208)
Other comprehensive income: H 2 Ees:
Exchange differences arising on BERIEBEEL

translating foreign operations ERZEE - - - - 1 - - 1
Total comprehensive loss for the year ~ FN2EHREE - - - - 1 = (91,208) (91,204)
At 31 December 2019 RZB-1%F

+-A=t+-AH 7,003 146,099 646,448 2,665 @) 45,330 (550,510) 297,031
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
MmEEmE R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 = — &

—NET_A=+—HILLFE

Notes:

The contribution surplus of the Group brought forward represents
the amount transferred from the share premium due to the share
premium reduction effective on 23 November 2015 and various capital
reduction subsequently. Under the Company Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended), the contribution surplus is available for distribution.
However, the Company cannot make a distribution out of the
contribution surplus if: () it is, or would after the payment be, unable
to pay its liabilities as they become due; or (i) the realisable value of its
assets would thereby be less than its liabilities.

Share option reserve represents the fair value of services estimated
to be received in exchange for the grant of the relevant share option
over the relevant vesting periods, the total of which is based on the fair
value of the share option at grant date. The amount for each period
is determined by spreading the fair value of the share option over the
relevant vesting period (if any) and is recognised as staff costs and
related expenses with a corresponding increase in the share option
reserve.

Translation reserve represents exchange differences relating to the
translation of the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations from
their functional currencies to the Group’s presentation currency
(i.e. Hong Kong dollar (‘HK$")) and are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation reserve.
Such exchange differences accumulated in the translation reserve
are reclassified to accumulated losses on the disposal of the foreign
operations.

Capital contribution reserve represents Mr. Mung Kin Keung (“Mr.
Mung”), a director and substantial shareholder of the Company, had
compensated the Group from suffering loss of deposits paid for
investments in prior years, and fulfilled his responsibility as a personal
guarantee and settled all outstanding balance of deposits paid for
investments.

Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2019

AEBZARNBEZABERBRDEERD R
—HF+—AZ T =BEMKEER 2 BURRAE
MMEE B ROREZFE - REERE NN\~
i AVE (RIERT) BEBABRFHDIK - AT A

IEETIERTBESE ﬁ%f’EHﬂ“ﬂf&'(’)E
E¢iﬁiﬁ1§:*ﬁ%f§@xuﬁﬂﬁ1a HEEEZE
EEgINEEE-

BAERBRENR L ARB R (A R R AE R

BBHRANREZIRE 2 FE BB NRE
EARMBREZATERFERE - BRBMRZ

T H'J%H%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂgz A ER A 5 R B
(B )NESFTE  WERETHT MBS DE
R WARFEIR = AR (1 o

E)%f%ﬁﬁ?‘éﬁﬁﬁzﬁﬁli9I\¥?f9§2§§5¥ﬁﬂﬂfﬁ\
NEEBHRELSAEEZE2HRER (AVET ([
T REAZERZREEEREMEEKET
RN NE S BT Ret e %Z%#EPLE%%E%%Z
EXEENHE B EBSER N EERAER-

TERBEARAFEERIERRTEZRLEL ([
FEDRBEFERREZENZESELZER
EUAKEELWEE UHREZCNIZESETA
ERBEARRZEERINAEREES



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mELREREBR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-hF —T-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Cash flows from operating REEKZHERE
activities
Loss before income tax BRFT1S BRI B (91,295) (141,223)
Adjustments for: E Bt T3l & B E L 552 -
Dividend income % B U A (3,821) (3,380)
Interests income FEHKA (2,207) 81)
Depreciation of property, plant ME BEIZBZITE
and equipment 1,715 674
Depreciation of right-of-use CRAEEEZITE
assets 3,465 -
Loss arising in change in fair FHRBHEARTETIER
value of financial assets at fair LB EENTFEE
value through profit or loss EEZEE 77,633 122,160
Finance costs A& B A 802 299
Operating cash flows before RtEBESEH 2 EE
movements in working capital HEm=E (13,708) (21,551)
(Increase)/decrease in B RIE ()R
prepayments (87) 40
Decrease in other receivables B i U BR 3R 4 4,825 43,620
Decrease/(increase) in deposits BEftReRmL(m)
paid 7 (975)
Decrease in amount due JE W — i 3 R R 5K IE
from a related company B 246 1,397
(Increase)/decrease in financial FRBRIEAAFEEREZ
assets at fair value through M EE (8m) B
profit or loss (32,262) 4,028
Increase in accruals and JE &1 BR 30 N EL M FE £+ BR 3K
other payables 30 7,265 12,750
(Decrease)/increase in amount due  F&{f — A B A ) H
to a related company (B A) /30 (920) 920
Net cash (used in)/generated & XK (FEH) ELEZ
from operating activities ReFE (34,634) 40,229
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mEREREBR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

2019 2018
—F-hF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
Cash flows from investing REEKZHRERE
activities
Purchase of property, plant and BAME  BE REMHE
equipment (330) (3,386)
Dividend received 2 U B 3,821 3,380
Interest received 2 U A B 2,207 81
Net cash generated from REXEKEEZESFE
investing activities 5,698 75
Cash flows from financing MEXF2RERE
activities
Proceed from margin loan from BEREARERZ
securities broker FT1S5K38 - 1,635
Repayment of margin loan from EEZFHFLRARER
securities broker (1,635) -
Repayment of obligation undera  EEmEREBE N&EE
finance lease - (192)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHERE (3,308) -
Repayment to a director M—RESER - (10,000)
Interest paid ERFE (765) (262)
Net cash used in financing MELKERACE ST
activities (5,708) (8,819)
Net (decrease)/increase incash BHERBEELZEHIER
and cash equivalents CGRA) /#hnE 5 (34,644) 31,485
Cash and cash equivalents at RIBEHANZ2HER
the beginning of the reporting RE&Z{EEH
period 38,500 7,017
Effect of foreign exchange rate /I NEERS B E
changes 1 2
Cash and cash equivalents RBEHARZEER
at the end of the reporting HEeEEER
period 3,857 38,500
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Global Mastermind Capital Limited (the “Company”) was
domiciled in Hong Kong and incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and continued in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability. The Company’s shares
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the Company’s
registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. Its principal place of business is
situated at Unit 3107, 31/F, Shun Tak Centre, West Tower,
168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
HK$, which is also the functional currency of the Company
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(HK$’000) except otherwise indicated.

The principal activity of the Company is to act as an
investment holding company. The principal activities and
place of operations of the Company’s subsidiaries are set
out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in investing in listed and
unlisted companies.

—RER

RIKKBIREBRAA ([ARF])MN
BEEREM WHRFASESTMAL
ERBREFEREHRRBER QA A
RAIZBODEBABERZAERAT
([BERPT]) BT e RARIGEMFEE 2
it A Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda o i1 &£ = & &
FHEI N B S T 508 H1168-20015 172
CNPHPE31HES107 E ©

REMBHRERAETEI BRLTTAERR
Az E® Mk EHEMAIN FAEE
EONERAEREOTA(TET) -

ARBIZEBRBRESREERARE
o ARBIMNBARIZEEREBNEXRM
RN E M ERRMIFEI6 - NAR R EH
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REMMIEERAF-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RIS AR MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B Z — T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first
time, the following new and amendments to standards
and interpretations (collectively referred to as the “new
and amendments to HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”),
which are effective for the Group’s financial year beginning
from 1 January 2019. A summary of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs application by the Group is set out
as follows:

HKFRS 16 Leases
HK(IFRIC) — Int 23

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation
Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment,
Curtailment or Settlement
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in
Associates and
Joint Ventures
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial performance
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Lease
and the related interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC) — Int 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease and not apply
this standard to contracts that were not previously identified
as containing a lease. Therefore, the Group has not
reassessed contracts which already existed prior to the date
of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1
January 2019, the Group applies the definition of a lease in
accordance with the requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in
assessing whether a contract contains a lease.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial application,
1 January 2019.

At 1 January 2019, the Group recognised additional lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets at amounts equal to the
related lease liabilities by applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(ii)
transition. Any difference at the date of initial application
is recognised in the opening accumulated losses and
comparative information has not been restated.

BRI B BUBREELER (&
EMBHRELEL]) REBITA
(4&)

)

A IR T BB MR
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"

HEZE#

AEBDEEBRTEREE LA ER
R ENETRREE (BRTHR
ERELZEE) BB ETLHE
LESHEBNASHEENGNRERE BT
¥R 2E RIS 1657 - M 3 48 3 55 AT 30 R 38
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

When applying the modified retrospective approach under
HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the following
practical expedients to leases previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis,
to the extent relevant to the respective lease contracts:

U)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

relied on the assessment of whether leases are
onerous by applying HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets as an alternative of
impairment review;

elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for leases with lease term ends within 12
months of the date of initial application;

excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-
of-use assets at the date of initial application;

applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases
with similar remaining terms for similar class of
underlying assets in similar economic environment.
Specifically, discount rate for certain leases of
properties in Hong Kong was determined on a
portfolio basis; and

used hindsight based on facts and circumstances
as at date of initial application in determining the
lease term for the Group’s leases with extension and
termination options.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B IS AR MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously
classified as operating leases, the Group has applied
incremental borrowing rates of the relevant group entities
at the date of initial application. The weighted average
incremental borrowing rate applied is 5.13%.

BRI B BUBREELER (&
?E%%ﬁ%%ﬁuj)&ﬁﬂ%ﬂﬂi
&

A IR T BB MR
HEAREBITR (&)

BERBUBHERERF1657HE (&)
TERATEA (&)

REREM D EAKEHENHENHE
BER ASBECEAREXERBBHE
AR EE AL S 18 FOR 2 o BTRE A AN
WYL 2 B A E R5.13% ©

At 1 January
2019
R=-ZB—h#F
—HA—8H
HK$’000
FET
]
Operating lease commitments disclosed RZZE-N\FE+ZA=+—HEEZ
at 31 December 2018 ST E AR 10,386
Less: Future finance costs R B A AR (723)
9,663
Analysed as: DA
Current mE 3,307
Non-current SERE 6,356
9,663
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 E—Z—NF+-_A=+—HILtFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. RMFTEBMBHREEN (&
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG BB REER]) REETR
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (#&)

(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)
New and amendments to HKFRSs that are FAZS £ FE 58 5l 4 MY F7 5T B B B IS 3R
mandatorily effective for the current year HEAREEITR (&)
(Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) BB HEERF165HE (&)
As a lessee (Continued) 1ERATN (&)
The carrying amount of right-of-use assets at 1 January FRAEEENR_Z-—NF—-—A—ANKHE
2019 comprises the following: BEFETIEE:
Right-of-use
assets
EREEE
HK$’000
—Hﬁ
Right-of-use assets relating to operating BN ERB BV B RS ERFE1655EF
leases recognised upon application of BRZKEHEEHA FREERE
HKFRS 16 9,663
By class: ZER
Buildings BF 9,663
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBREAME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. EMHIEBUBEREERN ([T
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG BMEREEA]) REBITR
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (#&)
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)
New and amendments to HKFRSs that are RAREEEE £ M E BB &R
mandatorily effective for the current year FEBRHEERTAR (&)
(Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) BB HEERF165HE (&)
As a lessee (Continued) 1ERATN (&)
Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported HKFRS 16
at 31 at1
December January
2018 2019
AN R-ZE-NE
—E-N\E —H—H
+=A EBUBRE
=+—B Adjustments %8|%16%
ERZIREE #E BETZEREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEIT FET FET
Non-current assets *RBEE
Right-of-use assets ERREEE - 9,663 9,663
Current liabilities REEE
Lease liabilities HEARE = 3,307 3,307
Non-current liabilities kREBEE
Lease liabilities HEARE - 6,356 6,356
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RIS AR MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B Z — T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material*
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform?*
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for
which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B IS AR MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs,
a revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
was issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Stanadards, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

The directors anticipate that the application of all new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented, unless otherwise stated.

3.1 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the
disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BRI B BUBREELER (&
ifﬂﬂ%iﬁ%ﬁﬁw)&ﬁﬂ%ﬂﬂ&
&)

2 BB 18 R B2 FE] B B B R
HFEAREBUBEREEAEFT X
(#&)

br Ll ET BB M EER R E B
WEEAUSET AN R — NFIREEAMH
KIERT M B mE B S ES - HREMNE
B RE BRI 2ER P B2 HESE AT
PR AEET B T TF— A — A%
ZERBHFEE R LR

EERYEAMBHN BBV ERE LR
REBEEW B REERET AR AR ARK
BT EHGRAVBRRELEATE -

TEENHRBE

REGAEMEHRRMERZIZGHER
IR T X B mBIIFEIN  ZFEER
ERFEINZABEFEE/MEM-

3.1 &EMHEH
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 (since 1 January 2019) or HKAS 17
(before application of HKFRS 16), and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 /mpairment of
Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is
calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the
valuation technique equals the transaction price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

3.3

Basis of preparation (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement
date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 = — &

—NET_A=+—HILLFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.3

3.4

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company.
Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Interests in subsidiaries

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &= — & —

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.5

3.6

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expense items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case, the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost or
fair value less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if
any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 = — &

—NET_A=+—HILLFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.6 Property, plant and equipment

3.7

(Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. The
principal annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvement Over the lease term
Motor vehicles 20%
Office equipment 20%

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are

acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESHBEHUME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Financial instruments 38 MBEITAR

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest income
and interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RIS AR MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

Interest and dividend income which are derived
from the Group’s ordinary course of business are
presented as revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“‘FVTOCI”):

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

% Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2019

3. FEEHHRHE (&)

38 MBITAH (&

AEBAEERBRRELON S
N ONCEL I EX

HBEEE

HHEEENTERARTE

mRA T RTFRERIZREHR A E
M BT RS A E

s NUBAHWBRERERBHNM
RBEEZRBEATHALZ
MBEE: &

s AHNBRREERHELZR
EREBLRRINAE RAKE
BAREZME -

mEA TN REREEEBAEMEEK
BREATFEIKR([EAEMERE
WaR A FEIERAENHEE
=

e HMHBEENBOARKKRA
MRDRERBEEEXNER
BARE &

° ANBRRTRBERMELN
RenEEAaXNAEMAKRE
BAREHNE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESHBEHUME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued) 38 MWBIRA (&

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial recognition
of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive income if
that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in
a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired. For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

3. FEEHHRHE (&)

38 MBITH (&
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credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.

FAERF X T IAHER -

Financial assets at FV'TPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated

as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and

is included in the “revenue” line item.

Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2019

BB R N FEIIRZ R E

THARBHRATESEBEA
EEHBERAFEIRIIEESE
BEMEENRSERAFERZY
BEENEBBEKEURFEIKR

s

BBBRRARFEINRZHHE
EREREMR 2 AFEEFE
AAFEEREIEBERERRST
FERR - MIB R AR R 2 Wan S B 18 0%
BT EERYBEERRZ EMK
BEAMBAFA WS EE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESHBEHUME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued) METE (&

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”") model on financial assets
(including other receivables, deposits paid, amount
due from a related company and bank balance)
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting period to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the end of reporting
period. Assessment are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting period as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

For all instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B Z — T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESHBEBME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued) METE (&
Financial assets (Continued) BBEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) B EERE (&)

B PNl

Significant increase in credit risk

EHEVREREEERRES
RIEE K AEB S L BRNHREH

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group

compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting period with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESHBEHUME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued) 38 MWBIRA (&

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(@ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(o) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;
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38 MBITAH (&

HBEE (&)
HBEEENRE (&)
EBHEE

HAMEERBRERMNS  AEER
R BHSHEANBSIRI GBI
KB EMBREBATKA L
HAERA (BREAEE)EKEE
Ao

TwmEXBA AEEHRAS B
R HEERRBEBIORRELE
B EAREEEARERABEER K
BREINBRNENZEERRE

EERENBEE

ERLE-AXZHENMEEER
ARBEZREBTNZENEMHE

BHREELREERE -UBEELY
REERENEREEEAETIE
R R B BUR

(@ BTAXBERALREENE
N

(o) EBREH  WENIBHEN:



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. TESTBERBE (#)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.8 Financial instruments (Continued) 38 MWBIRA (&

Financial assets (Continued) BBEE (&)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) B EERE (&)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued) EEREVBEE (&

(©) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or (c) EBHRAMERAEBBERA
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s FHRENLCESELIERM
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower MERAEHERATE BT
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not ERENESR:

otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower d) ERARBAIEHSERESNE
will enter bankruptcy or other financial ITEAMBISEN 5

reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that () HRUBRE MBEEETR
financial asset because of financial difficulties. MIHHEK -

Write-off policy T8 BUR

The Group writes off a financial asset when there ERBEREFRIEREREVENE
is information indicating that the counterparty is in K B BR[O A] gE B - AN £ (B BI
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic HIMBEE KEREEERRE (¥
prospect of recovery. Financial assets written off may ) EBMHENMEEETIDA
still be subject to enforcement activities under the BAREEWEIIEFEITR G NITIE
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account B o MIE A EUEREIR - A H
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes BB TEIE s PR o

a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B Z — T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESHBEBME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued) METE (&

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater
for cases where evidence at the individual instrument
level may not yet be available, the financial instruments
are grouped on the following basis:

° Nature of financial instruments;

Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.

Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2019

MBEE (#)

HBEEENRE (&)

BHEEER A ERER

BEHEEBBEIAEREOREX &
HEE (AZOREBERN) RELD
Iy @Bt O 2 BRI o BB R KB
ERZAHEDERE L BB IRATE
MERHERE - FEHEEBENER
DERRENMETHSE USEE
EEANRR BEEREE -

— RS EEEBEAREAY
ENAEBZFEANRSRER
AEBEHRRREHEZ M
298 (RPBRERE BT 2 AR =
B -

HMEMEEERRERELESEN

“a 1I%‘JIE7}<¥ EERVIFEN
 RIEA 5 T B DA T AR IR -

e WBIAME:

o EER:

e EBANEE BRERITE R

o IEEEFFR(HA) -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESHBEHUME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued) METE (&

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amounts.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B Z — T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued) METH (&)

3. FEEHHRHE (&)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESHBEHUME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued) 38 MWBIRA (&

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including accruals and other
payables, amount due to a related company, lease
liabilities and other financial liability — non-convertible
bond) are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.9 Impairment on property, plant and

equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at
least annually, and whenever there is an indication that
the asset may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating units (the “CGU”) to which the
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual CGU, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU)
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

3. FEEHHRHE (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESHBEHUME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
39 X BERRE ERAEEE

3.9 Impairment on property, plant and

equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwiill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or
the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or a group
of CGUs) is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or
a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. TEESHBRME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.10 Revenue and other income 310 R H AU A
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the W iR s KR E 2R FE
consideration received or receivable. FrEe
Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue WSS A SEHbET 2 TR 2RAS
can be reliably measured; when it is probable that B A RERAARER  BERFEAT
future economic benefits will flow to the Group and REBSEBHEEERR - AIARE
when specific criteria have been met for each of the R

Group's activities, as described below.

Dividend income from unlisted investments is FELEMRE 2 BB WA R
recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive WEL R IR 2 1 Al IR T 3R o

payment is established.

Dividend income from listed investments is recognised EREZREBARZIRE 2K
when the share price of the investments goes B ERER -

ex-dividend.

Interest income is recognised when the effective FEBRARERMNERERRZEE
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of BRI EER -

the asset.

Managerial and administrative service income is XEPRKZEWEBEEREERH
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight- Flzs - A ERE RITHAREWA LR
line basis as the customer simultaneously receives ORI DF B M HIR R EERR -

and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

3.11 Taxation 311818
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax FIT 15 %54 5 2 (X 5= BV BA 8 < 51 18 B2 E
currently payable and deferred tax. FERRIE 2 480
Current tax B Ep%i 18
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for BV EA & 1~ 2 56 18 LA 5 A0 8 AR Bt s A
the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘loss before income FTE - ERTUR A BRAR S B R EAM
tax’ as reported in the consolidated statement of profit FPEHWERAZ®W [BRATSHRATE
or loss and other comprehensive income because BITR - TTHREMEEABEER
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible Mok AW A FZIEE U R)E
in other years and items that are never taxable or NARB A ENIEE T - A& E
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is BRI BESREHARD BB
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted IEECDEM B ERAE -
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESHHEBE (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.11 Taxation (Continued) A1 BIE (&

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with interests in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such interests are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.11 Taxation (Continued)

3. FEEHHRHE (&)

BA1HE (&

Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amounts of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for lease
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For lease transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and
over the lease terms due to application of the initial
recognition exemption.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESHBEHUME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.11 Taxation (Continued) A1 BIE (&

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity respectively.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax
treatments, the Group considers whether it is
probable that the relevant tax authority will accept
the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be
use by individual group entities in their income tax
filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred taxes
are determined consistently with the tax treatment
in the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the
relevant taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax
treatment, the effect of each uncertainty is reflected
by using either the most likely amount or the expected
value.

3.12Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

F FZ B R R AR FE % R

BIHA SR ST R TR 1R 2R FERR - HE fief BT
R AEE N ENE
ERERTRRZIEB AR BIATH
FAEFERL TR IR 25 Bl I EL b 22 1 U
BRI Fala ik

PR EF & AT 1S 1 Be 32 2 (R frT S HEE 1
R REESERHBRGHESS
BrRkEMENSEERES SN
PIT 15 0 B ¥ o {68 R sl Bt 5 AR O
EERISEIEEITRIS AR - tR AT
BeRR A RIBNEI SR AE R TR A B P 15
BERPNHEFEIER-FN TR
BT - IR BT K A] B I
AT EE LM ER IR - AER &A]
BE B © B 3 TR HA (B 2R [ Bk 2 18 A
EMMRE-

BNR2RERREEEHER

ReMREFEREBRRITER
K FERE  F R IRTT S H A B 75
BBz EHFRLERSRPMR
B (REAERRESCHNREHE
AstEEZSH T AR TK) -

ARAEREERAT | 2000568 107



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESHBEBME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.13Employee benefits 313 EER/A

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to after
deducting any amount already paid.

Retirement benefit obligations

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

The Group operates a MPF Scheme under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for those employees employed under the jurisdiction
of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
Scheme is a defined contribution scheme, the assets
of which are held in separate trustee-administered
funds.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to
the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
with the employers’ contributions subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The Group’s
contributions to the scheme are expensed as incurred
are vested in accordance with the scheme’s vesting
scales. Where employees leave the scheme prior to
the full vesting of the employer’s contributions, the
amount of forfeited contributions is used to reduce the
contributions payable by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESHBEHUME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.13Employee benefits (Continued) 313 EER/A (&

Share-based payment expenses

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
and others providing similar services are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant
date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on assessment
of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.
For share options that vest immediately at the date
of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is
expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred
to accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RIS AR MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.14 Leases (upon application of HKFRS 16
in accordance with transitions in note 2)

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components, including contract for acquisition of
ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components,
unless such allocation cannot be made reliably.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of storage room that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3. TEEMHHRHE (&)

3.14Leases (upon application of HKFRS 16 314 E (RIBM 20 1B E FE A

in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

Except for short-term leases, the Group recognises
right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the
lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is available for
use).

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located
or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the
lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3. FEEHHRHE (&)

3.14 Leases (upon application of HKFRS 16 314 E (RIBM 20 1B E FE A

in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the index
or rate as at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the
option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

1 12 Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2019

B8R S A B 103

AEEEDABEA (H)
FHEEE (&)

AEERZEARMBEARRRPEER
BREEFSEBENEABZS -

HERE

REER® B8 AEERZ B KRN
MEENRREERLTERER
FE-RAEEENRBER  WHEE
REANXRAEUETE  AIAKEER
HERFR ARG EERAERAE -

HENREE:

e RBEEMNK(BREELMUEMNEE
30 R ] e TH BB

o HURRESELEWAZEHE
Mt ERERRSB A
HIR R B R &

s AEEREMNAKEEEREH
SRRk

e MARESEMETEBER
BRRENTEE: &

e RUIEMEMIEMNR(KWEE
BRARRRASBE TR LEE
&) e

RFts AR HERENEFE
KRAENRIELFE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B IS AR MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.14 Leases (upon application of HKFRS 16
in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market rent
review/expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESHBEBME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.14 Leases (upon application of HKFRS 16 3147 E (REBEMF20BEREH

in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by
an amount commensurates with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease
by discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified
contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

1 14 Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2019

BBO & 2 RIE165)

(4

EEBMEBAEA (HF)
HEZ &%

W HIRATER  AEBBEE 2 E
HER—HEBENEEAR:

o ZREBMEBREIER—TEK
ZIEMEEENREMNEANTHE
SHE: &

« BEEEORE ENHLE
16 5 0 K 0 2
o 0L A R SE A 4 RO 18
ST 56 A o 17 60

B

RARER—HEBHEARNHEE
ZERME  AREEREBERE
AR A A EERTREIR R BRRE
& 7] HE N R L E S 1 TH
EMtEHERE

AEEBRBHBREREEEET

TERE - EENRNANESH
SHEME M — Ak ZEEMEE
SFHEEANT DR  AEESRIE
& M RKCER o /O A8 B8 L (B AR M3k
MEAKE DB RB L EBREER
BHNENTHEHESKESEEE
MARER D



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESHBEHUME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.14Leases (upon application of HKFRS 16 3.14HE (RIZME20V1BE FE A

in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(Continued)

The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 January 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

Asset held under a finance lease is recognised as
assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception
of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the
minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability
to the lessor is included in the consolidated statement
of financial position under the heading of “obligation
under a finance lease”.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance
costs and reduction of the lease obligation so as to
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability. Finance costs are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Operating lease payments, including the cost of
acquiring land held under operating leases, are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RIS AR MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B Z — T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.15Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

3.16 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, it is probable that the Group will
be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it
is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received
and the amount of the receivable can be measured
reliably.

3.17 Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

1 16 Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2019

3. FEEHHRHE (&)

315 ER A

FRBEEERAREEEHHEARIE

ﬁnﬁ@ o °©

3.16 &5

RAEEBERDBELEZHAERA
f&(ii&i]’ﬁﬁé)ﬁﬁﬂ%éﬁﬁﬁ%

ERBEZEE YEEHEESR
RE Al SE (A AT - FERR AR o

AR BEREEZER M THARSE
‘B ERRBREZEE/BEREH
ReBEBEETRBREZ&EMDF -
WERETANEEREEET 2R
EREAERE RZBERTER
ZEReRERE (HEEFHEEZ
TEBEKX) -

WIEERZE A AN BB 2 & T3
BRENRERAIEE =4O - 8fE
WHRIEHER R EE - EABRETE R
AIEGESR - Wee A SEEt BB HE IR
HIEZ &

W
okr

PR &
RED ARG EMBEREMZ2®RL

ER)

%’ﬁ%ﬁl BEf DIRBEARASKE
BIRFEG KR EER D B R T
H\

KEMEMMAEERHITHRE
B ARMZ AR ER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESHBEHUME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.17 Segment reporting (Continued) 317 HWHE (&

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated
if they share a majority of these criteria.

3.18 Contingent liabilities and contingent

assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a
present obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow of
economic resources will be required or the amount
of obligation cannot be measured reliably. When a
change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that
outflow is probable, they will then be recognised as a
provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of
one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the Group. When inflow is virtually
certain, an asset is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RIS AR MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B Z — T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.19 Related party transactions

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(8 A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

()  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's
parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

()  the entity and the Group are members of
the same Group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others);

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a Group of which
the other entity is a member);

(i)  both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party;

1 18 Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2019

3. FEEHHRHE (&)

B1I9OBEEALRS

ETIIE

T BRALHGFSER

SEERE

(a)

fEBIA T AL BIZA AL
ZBANLTZORBAEE AR

78

BAKREAZERHF
17 1 4

HAEBBEERTEN:
sk

RASENAEEE QA
ZEREBAR-

fid 755 & T F 3 1A] 16 1¢ Al E

2 E

A= 2%

(i)

(ih

(i)

AEEEBE

ZEREANEEER—

@ZBZE/AET(EH%’A
NGNS ACEN Y=
ARtEEEREE)

—HERBAS —ERBZH
ERAlREERE (K—
EBZKERRIZEER
AlskadtE -Mm»m—
BAZEEETKE
CIDE

\,\) ‘ﬂﬂfh}

AR

\I\
N1

M E
26 %fﬁ%



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.19 Related party transactions (Continued)

(b)  (Continued)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(vii

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
group or to the group’s parent.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources,
services or obligations between the Group and a
related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

Close family members of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RIS AR MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, the directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Assessment of economic useful lives of
property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their
economic useful lives. The assessment of estimated
useful lives is a matter of judgement based on the
experience of the Group, taking into account factors such
as technological progress, changes in market demand,
expected usage and physical wear and tear. Useful lives are
periodically reviewed for continued appropriateness. Due
to long lives of assets, changes to the estimates used can
result in variations in their carrying amounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Impairment of intangible assets

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are reviewed
for impairment at the end of each reporting period or
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount of the asset is the higher
of the fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
An estimation of the value in use of the asset involves
estimating the future cash flows expected to arise from its
continuing use and applying the appropriate discount rate
that reflects current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risk specific to the asset.

Fair value measurement of financial
instruments under level 3 fair value hierarchy

Certain of the Group’s financial instruments under
level 3 fair value hierarchy amounting to approximately
HK$64,607,000 (2018: HK$61,207,000) at 31 December
2019 are measured at fair values with fair values being
determined based on unobserved inputs using valuation
techniques. Judgement and estimation are required in
establishing the relevant valuation techniques and the
relevant inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to
these factors could affect the reported fair values of these
instruments. See note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements for further disclosures.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining provision for taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises tax liabilities based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
year in which such determination is made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. 7 EER
The chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM”) has BERGERARE ([RaEARRE] K
been identified as the Company’s executive directors. BREBRARANTES AEBE FEE
The Group’s principal activity is engaged in investment in HBARREEMEIELET AR e aEER
listed and unlisted companies. The CODM regards it as a REGERBE—XBoE WEZYHE
single business segment and no segment information is B R} o
presented.
At the end of the reporting period, non-current assets RBERR ERBDEEREMLRE S
included property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets ZUE - BELREZE TRAEEENLE
and intangible assets of approximately HK$3,046,000 & E 493,046,000 T (Z & — N\ F:
(2018: HK$4,431,000), HK$6,198,000 (2018: nil) and 4,431,000/ 7T ) + 6,198,000/ 7Tt (=&
HK$5,785,000 (2018: HK$5,785,000) which are located in — \fF BB T) 5,785,000 7T (= F
Hong Kong. The Company’s place of domicile is in Hong — J\%F :5,785,000/8 7T ) ° AR R Z FT fE
Kong which is determined based on the location of central WEBRPRERZALEME -
management.
The Group’s revenue is mainly derived from Hong Kong HE-_Z—NEFR=F-NF+=ZA
during the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. T —BLEFE AEEzZREFERE
H5 e
6. REVENUE 6. W=
2019 2018
—E-hEF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FExT FHEIT
Dividend income g B A 3,821 3,380
Interest income FLEWA 2,207 81
6,028 3,461
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OTHER INCOME

B B IS AR MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

7. HirzE
2019 2018
—B-NE TN\
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHBTT

Managerial and administrative service

par
]

B MATBORS W

income 146 137
FINANCE COSTS 8. mEAK

2019 2018

—B-AEF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FET

Interest on: FE
Other financial liability Hib B as
— non-convertible bond (note 24) —NA] IR (E 5
(Histo4) 237 237
Finance lease BEMEE - 2
Lease liabilities HEGE 418 -
Other interest expenses to financial RIS 2 B B
institutions 147 60
802 299
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BHE—Z—NF+_A=+—HILFE

9. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. BRETEHATEE
Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging: BRETSHRIEEE R T &IE !
2019 2018
—E-hEF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FEx FHEIT
— /7]
Auditors’ remuneration: IZENRT BN
— Audit services —BZRB 400 430
— Non-audit services —JEEZIRT 110 61
510 491
Depreciation of property, plant and M BERZEITE
equipment 1,715 674
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEFRE 3,465 -
Loss arising in change in fair value of FREBEZEREARNFEIERZ
financial assets at FVTPL M EEATEESES
ZER 77,633 122,160
Net foreign exchange loss P H 1855 289 108
Operating lease rentals in respect of FAMEZREHERS
premises - 822
Expense relating to short-term leases S HAEHE 2 FAX 23 =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBREAME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. MREFBHIATEIE (&)
(CONTINUED)
An analysis of the loss arising in change in fair value of FHRBEREAANTEYRZMBEEERT
financial assets at FVTPL is as follows: BEFEE 2 EE2STUOT:
2019 2018
—g-hE  —T)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Realised gain on disposal of financial HEBEBIBSENATET

assets at FVTPL ReWBEE D #R
U #=5
Proceeds from disposal of financial HEFEBEEERURATET)
assets at FVTPL BRI EE 2 SRR (105,264) (165,869)
Less: Carrying amounts of financial Ji B REEERARFED
assets at FVTPL R EEZ
BREE 100,911 155,606
(4,353) (10,263)
Unrealised loss on financial assets BiEBEREAAEEYEREZ
at FVTPL MEEEZREH
&8 81,986 132,423
77,633 122,160
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BHE—Z—NF+_A=+—HILFE

10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE 10. EERABAX

2019 2018

—®B-nFE  —EF

HK$’°000 HK$'000

FHT FET

Salaries and other allowance e M E A )ERY 7,946 11,800
Retirement benefit scheme RARAE FFT 8 51

contributions 141 174

8,087 11,974

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 1. EERFETHRAEZEHMNH

REMUNERATION

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (@) EERTEITHAE ZFHHN
emoluments

RIEBER EMREREB R LD

WERTHEBECEERETETHA

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the
year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing

Rules and the disclosure requirements of the Hong BzMEaT :
Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:
Retirement
benefits
Salaries and scheme
Fee allowance contributions Total
BIKER
e HeREE HE 13 @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAT TR TR TAT

2019 ZB-NF

Executive directors: HTEE:

M. Mung Sk 195 - 7 202

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan SmLE 3,960 330 18 4,308

Independent non-executive BUFHTES:

directors:

Mr. Fung Wai Ching B®ELE 60 - - 60

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi Percy BERLE 60 - - 60

Mr. Lei Seng Fat FRERE 60 - - 60
4,335 330 25 4,690
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B B IS AR MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

1M1, EERFETHRAEZEMNH

REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) (#&)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (@) ESRETETHAEZHMH
emoluments (Continued) (&)
Retirement
benefits
Salaries and scheme
Fee allowance  contributions Total
RIKET
we  HeREH HE 3 b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TiEn Thr FiHn
2018 —E-N\F
Executive directors: #i1ES:
Mr. Mung SEk 3,300 - 18 3318
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan SmXEE 3,960 330 18 4,308
Independent non-executive directors; B FHITES
Mr. Fung Wai Ching B EEE 60 - - 60
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi Percy EEREE 60 - - 60
Mr. Lei Seng Fat FRERE 60 - - 60
7,440 330 36 7,806

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan is also the chief executive
officer of the Company and his emoluments disclosed
above include those for service rendered by him as the
chief executive officer.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year ended 31 December
2019 and 2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and
2018, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

SmXEENBARE ZITHRAEE
REXHBEBEZEMEBEAEEE
THARHEHRRE ZME -

HE-_Z-—NEFERZZF—N\F+=
A=+—RHLFE HBESITE
TBABABLEREXRENRER
A&z 28k

BHE-_ZT-—NFERZZE—N\F+=
A=t—RLtFE AEBELERE
EXNEAEMALREE Z #EE Sk
BREE 2 mES-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

M. EERFETHRAEZEMNH
(#&)

b) ESHEREAERZZRE TH

(b) Transactions, arrangements or contracts

in which directors have material interests

On 29 February 2016, Excellent Mind Investments
Limited, which is owned as to 60% to Mr. Mung and
40% as to Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan, both of them
are executive director, became a shareholder of the
Global Mastermind Holdings Limited (“GMHL”).

On 22 September 2016, Hope Master Investments
Limited (“Hope Master”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of GMHL, in which Mr. Mung and Mr. Mung
Bun Man, Alan, the directors of the Company, are also
the directors of GMHL, entered into an agreement
with the Company to replace the agreement entered
into between the Company and GMHL in 2015
(the “2016 Hope Master Agreement”). Pursuant to
the 2016 Hope Master Agreement, Hope Master
provided management and administrative services
to the Company for the period from 23 September
2016 to 30 September 2018. For the year ended
31 December 2018, the Group paid management
and administrative service fee of approximately
HK$2,865,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Group received managerial and administrative
service income with the amounts of approximately
HK$146,000 (2018: HK$137,000) from GMHL.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
paid commission and other handling charge with
the amounts of approximately HK$6,000 (2018:
HK$91,000) to Global Mastermind Securities Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of GMHL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11. EERFTETHAE ZHM
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) (#&)

b) ESHEREAERZZRE  TH

(b) Transactions, arrangements or contracts

in which directors have material interests
(Continued)

On 12 October 2018, Hope Master and Famous
Flamingo Limited (“Famous Flamingo”), indirect
wholly-owned subsidiaries of GMHL, in which Mr.
Mung and Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan, the directors
of the Company, are also the directors of GMHL,
entered into rental agreements with the Company.
Pursuant to rental agreements made between Hope
Master, Famous Flamingo and the Company, the
Company agreed to pay Hope Master and Famous
Flamingo rental fee for the provision of rental service
in accordance with rental agreements. During the
year ended 31 December 2018, the Company paid
rental expenses of approximately HK$506,000
and HK$285,000 to Hope Master and Famous
Flamingo respectively. During the year ended 31
December 2019, the Company repaid lease liabilities
of approximately HK$2,114,000 and paid interest
on lease liabilities of approximately HK$267,000 in
relation to the rental agreement entered into with
Hope Master. The Company also repaid lease liabilities
of approximately HK$1,193,000 and paid interest
on lease liabilities of approximately HK$151,000 in
relation to the rental agreement entered into with
Famous Flamingo.

Saved as disclosed above, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts in which the Company
or any subsidiaries of the Company was a party and
in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year. The
above related parties transactions are exempted from
approval under Listing Rule chapter 14A.

RNEH (F)

RZZEE—N\F+ A+ =8 Hope
Master R IRIR K@ (H R A2 A
EEELAERERXEENA
BRABZ2ES)2cHEEZEMN
B A 7lFamous Flamingo Limited
([Famous Flamingo ] ) B2 A 2 &] &
7 & # % © 1R B Hope Master -
Famous Flamingo 82K 2 &) {E H Ay
ERE ARRERERRBREER
&b IR AR & R 7% A Hope Master
N Famous FlamingoX A E & -
BHE-_T-\F+ZA=+—H1E
F[E AR FEE D BlAHope Master
K Famous Flamingoz - 7 & B 52
#7506,000/% 7T }285,000/% 7T ° X
HE-_ZT-—hhF+=-ZA=+—H
IEFE KARQAEREE B EHope
Masters]l Z v Ew#E 2 HEAE
#412,114,0008 T R ZNHEBER
B #267,0008 T A RRIIMEERESR
8 B2 Famous Flamingoz] 32 2 F & 1
HoHEAEL1,193,0008 LRk

Br B TEE SN RERF AR
RR - BEAR R EAAME AR
BEHNARAARESTHE R ME
REFHEEAERCEMRS %
At FlEALRZERS
BT EMRAFE14AZE ZH -

BRABEREERAT | 201008 120



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BHE—Z—NF+_A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S M. EERFETHABZHMH

REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) (#&)

(c) Five highest paid individuals (c) EEEEHFMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the FR AEEREESHFMHALE
highest in the Group for the year included one (2018: B—R2(ZE—N\F - WRB)ES-
two) director whose emoluments are reflected in the FELMEFBERLEX 2D TH
analysis presented above. The emoluments of the REEL-ATOE (ZE—NF:=%4)
remaining four (2018: three) highest paid individuals e ALTZEHMIT

are as follows:

2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Salaries and other allowance e RHEAMERL 1,959 2,276
Retirement benefit scheme RIRE AN ET IR
contributions 65 54
2,024 2,330
No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the AEERMEFEYERNAE RS
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join FMALTZEM—BALTZNIER
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss MARGEE ZE o kBB E
of office for both years. HES-
The aggregated emoluments of each of the remaining BRTITENE(ZE-—N\F =Z8)&
four (2018: three) highest paid individuals fell within the SEMA TN BEEB A TR
following bands:
2019 2018
—E-hEF b ANCS
Nil to HK$500,000 = 2500,000% 7T 3 —
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 2
1,000,000/ 7T 1 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000  1,000,001/%& T2
1,500,000/% 7T - 1
4 8
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e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and
was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong
Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

The subsidiary located in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) is subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at 25%
for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
as the Group incurred estimated tax losses or the taxable
profits was wholly absorbed by estimated tax losses
brought forward from prior years.

No provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been made
as the Group had no assessable profit arising in or derived
from PRC for both years.

12. FAEHAX

WR_E—NE=ZA-+—HB FHEIZE
CRBT (CE—LEHE (BF]) (B
THOAEEY (T - ZEBISIAT
FISBERAH - KHAER_FTE—NF=
AZ+NBESBEBITR XA FIET-R
BREHMASN aEKEREENY
2,000,000/ 7T i F1| 1 1%28.25% H#i + k8
82,000,000/ 7T & i F Bl 78 1216.5% 1k
B TRFAFEBHMATNEEETEEF
16 4 B 12216.5% 9 [E JE B = -F

EERE BERAGHMARFMYRNE
BEREWBREMSETER-BH
MEHDIEMEFEGBTERBERN 2
16.5%:T & ©

RPEARLAME ([HEZHEA
IR M EFER25% AP BEEEMF
Mo

R AN SR B E AR B AT R B 1R Sk R B0t
MR HOR T FEEE 2 AT HIRE R
B MU BFELEENEH &R

HRASEXMEFELEELNIRE T
B SR A B AT PR R B R S PT
ShisE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RIS AR MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to

the loss before income tax per the consolidated statement

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

12. FRSHAX (&

e kEMmemRaRFERNREHA
SRR HATERATHRET

2019 2018
—E-hE —ZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Loss before income tax BRFTS BRI 1B (91,295) (141,223)
Tax calculated at the rates applicable to  #RIEABRATE 7S Bl AHE @ 8 A
the tax jurisdictions concerned ZHBEGE 2 BIIA (15,064) (23,305)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR B 2
purposes 879 1,448
Income not taxable for tax purposes BARBUA (1,976) (1,021)
Estimated tax losses not recognised RER 2 AT ISR 16,161 22,878
Income tax expense FrisBiM = - -

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused
estimated tax losses of approximately HK$329,270,000
(2018: HK$231,325,000) available for offset against future
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of tax losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams and unrecognised tax losses could be carried
forward indefinitely.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBREAME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. EREB
The computations of basic and diluted loss per share RRARHEBEAEBLEREAREEEE 2
attributable to owners of the Company are based on the AEERTHEEEDS

following data:

2019 2018
—ZE-hF ZT-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHT
|
Loss 8
Loss for the purpose of basic and ARG ESREARREEE
diluted loss per share B2 EE
(Loss for the year attributable to (RNRRIHER AEIE
owners of the Company) FEEE) (91,295) (141,223)
2019 2018
—E-hEF AN
’000 000
T F A&
|
Number of shares BB
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ FA AT E &R E A K #8 &5
shares for the purpose of basic and Bz LB MEFHE
diluted loss per share 700,334 700,334
The basic and diluted loss per share are the same for both MEFE 2 BRERNREEEBMER -
years.
As the Company’s outstanding share options where MRARE M ARITE ZBRE (HER)
applicable had an anti-dilutive effect to the basic loss per HBEZ_Z-NF+_A=T—HBRZ=Z
share calculation for the year ended 31 December 2019 —\F+ A=+ HIFESRENE
and 31 December 2018, the exercise of the above potential B EREERBERZE HErER M
dilutive shares is not assumed in the calculation of diluted FEEREEHEERBR LVETEE
loss per share for both years. B0 I AETT(E -
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e RIS AR MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

14. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid, declared or proposed during the year
ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, nor
has any dividend been proposed by the board of directors
subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14.

IR E

RBE_ZE—NF+-_A=+—HBEZ=Z
—NF+-_A=+—HIFE 521

SR

BR S F S EARE

BB

ISR 14 TN RS S A AR B o
15. ¥ BERXHE

Leasehold Motor Office
improvement vehicles equipment Total
HEEE AE BAERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET FTEL
Cost KA
At 1 January 2018 R-ZZT—N\E—HF—H - 4,118 258 4,376
Additions B 3,320 - 66 3,386
At 31 December 2018 and at RZE-N\E+ZRA=+—H
1 January 2019 k=—E-N&E—H—H 3,320 4,118 324 7,762
Additions N 58 - 272 330
At 31 December 2019 RZE-hF+-A=1+—H 3,378 4,118 596 8,092
Accumulated depreciation R2itHE
At 1 January 2018 R-ZE—-\F—A—H - 2,538 119 2,657
Charge for the year FRZH 92 524 58 674
At 31 December 2018 and at RZE—-N\F+=-A=1+—H
1 January 2019 “Z-N&—A—H 92 3,062 177 3,331
Charge for the year FAZH 1,110 524 81 1,715
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF+-A=+—H 1,202 3,586 258 5,046
Carrying amounts RHEE
At 31 December 2019 RIZE-AE+ZA=1+—H 2,176 532 338 3,046
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-N\E+ZA=+—H 3,228 1,056 147 4,431
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. EAEEE
Buildings
BF
HK$’000
FET
At 1 January 2019 RZZE—-NF—H—H
Carrying amount BRHEE 9,663
At 31 December 2019 RZE—NE+=-_A=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 6,198
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE_ZT—NF+ZA=+—HLFE
Depreciation charge WEEHA 3,465
Total cash outflow for leases HEZRERHERE 3,749

Lease liabilities of approximately HK$6,355,000 are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$6,198,000 at 31 December 2019. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

The Group leases offices for its operations with lease
contracts under fixed term of 3 years.

R_ZE—NF+-_A=+—8 ®BRME
FERE{F AR & E 496,198,000 T HE
B & 496,355,000/ 7T o Br I H A FTRE AR
EEEMREEZIN HERZ LT EEN
EAGER - HEEERETSHEEEDN
ERGo

AEBHEHERLAZTANKE HE
[E 7 HARR 3 -

o)

9
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 = — &

—NET_A=+—HILLFE

17.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. B EE
Club memberships =5
HK$’000
FHET
Cost 5%
At 1 January 2018, RZE—N\F—H—81"
at 31 December 2018, RZZBE-NE+A=+—8"
at 1 January 2019 and RZE-—NF—-—HA—B8k
at 31 December 2019 R-ZEBE-hE+_-_A=+—H 5,785
Accumulated impairment losses REPREERE
At 1 January 2018, R=E—N\E—HF—8"
at 31 December 2018, RZZT—N\F+=ZHA=+—8"
at 1 January 2019 and RZZE-—NF—A—8K
at 31 December 2019 R-ZZE-—NF+=ZA=+—H -
Carrying amounts FREE
At 31 December 2018 and 2019 REZB-NER=-Z—IEF
+=—A=+—H 5,785
The Group holds life-time memberships with non- ﬁﬁl?—iﬂﬁﬂ%@%ﬁ 2 E\ET—JLZ@
refundable membership fee and is freely transferrable. In HAUEHEZR-ZESZRAE IR
the opinion of the directors, the club memberships are /,\§Zﬁéjiﬁ$2| /R—I—?ﬁﬁﬁﬁfa’? a4
capable of being renewed indefinitely at insignificant cost ZEBHXKAFH-

and therefore is perpetual in duration.

The Group performed impairment test for the intangible
assets by comparing its recoverable amounts to the
carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period
in accordance with HKAS 36 /mpairment of Assets.
The recoverable amounts of the intangible assets are
determined based on fair value less cost of disposal and the
directors consider that no impairment loss was recognised
for both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBREAME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

18. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED 18. FEW ~ ({4) BBE QA TFE
COMPANIES
Maximum
amount

outstanding
during the year

FRES 2019 2018
MAZEEE —E-hEF —ZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$ 000
FERT FERT FHEIT
Global Mastermind R AR 5
Securities Limited AR AT 28,330 84 330
The amounts due from/(to) related companies are U () BERRFEREER 28
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. RARBERKER -
19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 19. BBBmRUARFEIRZTE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS B5E
2019 2018
—E-AF —FT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Listed equity and debt securities: ERARERES
— Equity and debt securities in Hong —REBEBZRAR
Kong, at fair value BEHES BATE 216,184 280,310
— Equity and debt securities outside —REBEBAINZ R RE
Hong Kong, at fair value BEH BATE 35,738 24,038
251,922 304,348
Unlisted equity securities IELETRAE S 41,338 35,864
Unlisted investment funds FEEMREES 23,159 21,578
316,419 361,790
At the end of the reporting period, financial assets at FVTPL RBERR BREBRRARFEIRZ
are stated at fair value. MKEELNAFERY-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 10. FEEBERIRUAFESIR 2B

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

The fair value of the listed equity and debt securities
(excluded suspended trading securities) are determined
based on the quoted market closing prices available on the
relevant stock exchanges at the end of the reporting period.

At 31 December 2019, the fair value of suspended
trading securities listed in Hong Kong with the amounts of
approximately HK$110,000 was referenced to the valuation
carried out by International Valuation Limited (“IVL"), a
firm of independent qualified professional valuers. The
fair value of suspended trading securities listed in Hong
Kong was valued by using market approach with reference
to minimum price-to-book multiples (“P/B multiples”)
of comparable companies, adjusted with marketability
discount at 31 December 2019.

At 31 December 2018, the fair value of suspended
trading securities listed in Hong Kong with the amounts
of approximately HK$3,765,000 was referenced to the
valuation carried out by Graval Consulting Limited (“Graval”),
a firm of independent qualified professional valuers. The fair
value of suspended trading securities listed in Hong Kong
was valued by using market approach with a discount rate
which is used to reflect the risk of exposure to corporate
governance, illiquidity and financial distress etc. perceived
by market participants who hold the suspended shares
with remote likelihood of trade resumption at 31 December
2018.

At 31 December 2019, the fair value of unlisted equity
securities was referenced to the valuation carried out by VL.
The fair value of the unlisted equity securities was valued by
using market approach with share value allocation model
or asset-based approach as appropriate. In determining
the fair value of unlisted equity securities valued by using
market approach with share value allocation model, equity
value of investee companies was first determined by market
approach and share value allocation model was then used
to allocate equity value to different classes of shares. In
determining the fair value of unlisted equity securities valued
by using asset-based approach, fair value of individual
business assets less liabilities was considered to arrive the
fair value of the investee companies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2018, the fair value of unlisted equity
securities was referenced to the valuation carried out by
APAC Appraisal and Consulting Limited (“APAC”), a firm of
independent qualified professional valuers. The fair value of
the unlisted equity securities was valued by using market
approach or asset-based approach as appropriate. In
determining the fair value of unlisted equity securities valued
by using market approach, average P/S multiples and
marketability discount were considered. In determining the
fair value of unlisted equity securities valued by using asset-
based approach, fair value of individual business assets
less liabilities was considered to arrive the fair value of the
investee companies, adjusted by minority discount.

The unlisted investment funds are not quoted in an active
market and transactions in such investments do not occur
on a regular basis. The Company used the net asset value
as reported by the managers of the funds attributable to
the investments held by the Company to determine its fair
value.

Further details of fair value measurement of financial assets
at FVTPL are set out in note 33.5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

At 31 December 2019, none of the equity and debt
securities were pledged.

At 31 December 2018, a portfolio of equity and debt
securities with the carrying amounts of approximately
HK$32,080,000 have been pledged to secure margin loan
from securities broker in accruals and other payables (note
21).

The fair value of the Group’s listed equity and debt securities
listed in Hong Kong and outside Hong Kong (excluded
suspended trading securities) at the date of approval of
these consolidated financial statements were approximately
HK$192,191,000.

19. BBBEHBRUQFEIIR 2 I

BE (&)

R-ZE—NF+-_A=+—H FLtTK
KREBEENANFEDZEBIAEREE
HEMTEAGFERBEEBRAR (I3
KI)ETHOHEER - FELTRAZTEDN
ANFEDIEATSEREEERE (HiE
B)EE - RETRAMSAGHEIELT
BABEENAFEE  ZEIREREHEE
BEEHEHEAMERBETE RETK
REEEMAHEFELTRAFLFHAFE
B ZEIREREXEERABENAT
BETHE SHBREERFTATFE
DB EEL A

FLEMREESWENERT S EWRE
B EEMBELENZEFRENRS AR
AEAARAFANKRERENE KR
BENEEFEUNBEEERTFE

EREBEERaRARNTFEIIRZMBEE
ZRFEFEZE-THIBFENRAUS
WA MIEE33.5 ©

RZTE-AF+ZR=+—H8" HEEHR
PR R B 7E 5

RZE-—NF+—A=+—H EAEEA
#932,080,000/8 7T 2 B AN R B 15 7% FH 48
EETHR NESEHFLLCHARER
(BT AR R H B BRR) (A
21) o

RLEZEHEVMBRREY A& E
FEENMNBEBUNNLELTRAREBESES
(T"EREFEEEF)IZAFEOR
192,191,000/ 7T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 BHE—Z—NF+_A=+—HILFE

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

20. RERREFEHEA

2019 2018
—g-nE  —F A
HK$’000 HK$'000
F T

Cash at banks and on hand RITR e RFERS

3,857 38,500

At 31 December 2019, the Group has cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$46,000 (2018: HK$46,000)
denominated in United States Dollar (‘USD”).

Bank balances carry interest at floating rates and placed
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

For the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the
Group performed impairment assessment on bank
balances and concluded that the probability of defaults of
the counterparty banks are insignificant and accordingly, no
allowance for credit losses is provided.
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21.

22.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B IS AR MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 21, Bt iR R EMENS R
2019 2018
—E-hEF —FE-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Accruals JERTRR X 437 399
Margin loan from securities broker BHEKEGLE I HFRER
(Note) (K1at) - 1,635
Other payables H A JE 1 BR X 25,779 18,552
26,216 20,586
Note: Kiat -
At 31 December 2018, the margin loan from securities broker was RZE-—NF+ZA=1T—H BHELZHFRE

secured by a portfolio of equity and debt securities which classified as
financial assets at FVTPL held under the margin account, with carrying
amounts of approximately HK$32,080,000. The Group’s margin loan
has no determined maturity date and is subject to interest specified
from time to time by securities broker. The effective interest rate for the
year is 6.125% per annum.

LOAN FROM A DIRECTOR

On 30 November 2016, Mr. Mung, a director and
shareholder of the Company, as a lender, and the Group,
as a borrower, entered into a loan agreement pursuant to
which Mr. Mung has agreed to grant a loan to the Group
with the amount of HK$10,000,000 (the “Loan”). The Loan
is non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. The Loan
is constituted as a connected transaction of the Company
which fully exempted from shareholders’ approval, annual
review and all disclosure requirements under the Listing
Rules. The Group repaid the Loan during the year ended 31
December 2018.

The Loan is unsecured, interest free and repayable on
demand.

22.

HIBFFEEFIE TR 2 BREE 432,080,000/
TZRAREBES (DEABBIBEEREUNATE
VR ZMBEE)HEEER - AEEZHEER
WEETIHE  TARESFCLTRIEEZHE
B ARFE 2 BB FHER6.125% °

RE-—RESBZEX

R_E—RNE+—A=Z1+H ARAES
FRERILE (ERBERA) BAEE (1
BERNEILERBH Bt Ri4E
B R E R4 & B &% E 510,000,000 7T
([ExR]) EXRARERIREREE-E
HEXETRAUTARRZEERS W
FEREREE FERBARABERE
BE-REBEZE-_Z—N\F+_A=+—H
tFE AEBEEEER-

ERREER R NREREE-

BRABREERAT | 201058 {141



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 BHE—Z—NF+_A=+—HILFE

23. LEASE LIABILITIES 23. fHE&ASE
Present value of
Minimum minimum lease
lease payments payments
BEREMAR BEREMRNEAE
At At At At
31 December 1 January 31 December 1 January
2019 2019 2019 2019
R-B-NF R-B-NF
+=ZR RZZT—n% +=ZF RZZE-NF
=+-H —A—8 =+-H —A—8
HK’000 HK'000 HK’000 HK'000
TER FHL TER TAL
Leases liabilties payable: EHHEEERE:
Within one year —FR 3,726 3,726 3,481 3,307
In the second to fifth year, inclusive EF_EZFERF
(BEEEME) 2,934 6,660 2,874 6,356
6,660 10,386 6,355 9,663
Less: Future finance costs W RIRBE B AR (305) (723) - =
Present value of leases liabilities MEBENHE 6,355 9,663 6,355 9,663
Less: Amount due for settlement BN —ERNEE
within one year iob0] (3,481) (3,307)
Amount due for settlement YRR —FREENTR
after one year 2,874 6,356
All lease liabilities are denominated in HK$. FrEHEa BB E:.
The lease liabilities are related to lease contracts entered HEAFEERARREAARNRDFBFER TN
into between the Company, Hope Master and Famous Hope Master & Famous Flamingo&] 37 #Y
Flamingo which are related companies of the Company. MHESHERM-
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

24. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITY — NON-

CONVERTIBLE BOND

On 16 April 2014, the Company issued a non-convertible
bond in a principal amount of HK$10,000,000 (the “Bond”)
which is repayable on the date falling 7 years from the date
of issue of the Bond (the “Maturity Date”). The Company
has an option (the “Prepayment Option”) to repay the
outstanding principal amount of the Bond at any time before
the Maturity Date, but the bondholder shall not redeem the
Bond before the Maturity Date.

The Bond carries interest at the rate of 2% per annum
payable annually in arrears on the last day of each year from
the date of the Bond, provided that the final repayment of
the interest shall be on the Maturity Date. However, for every
10% increase in the net profit in any financial year during the
term of the Bond as compared to the immediate previous
year, the interest rate shall be increased by 1% for that
financial year and with retrospective effect. The following
year's interest rate will be reset at 2% subject to adjustment
depending on the net profit. The interest rate during the
term shall not be less than 2% per annum and not more
than 6% per annum (the “Cap”). Details of the Bond were
set out in the Company’s announcement date 16 April
2014,

The Prepayment Option and the Cap are regarded as
embedded derivatives in the host contract. The directors
assessed the fair value of the Prepayment Option and the
Cap with reference to the valuation performed by IVL (2018:
APAC), a firm of independent qualified professional valuers,
which assess the fair value of the Prepayment Option by
using binomial option pricing model and the Cap by using
the Monte Carlo method (2018: binomial method) and
determined that the fair value of the Prepayment Option
and the Cap were insignificant on initial recognition and at
the end of the reporting period. Accordingly, fair value of the
Prepayment Option and the Cap were not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2019
and 31 December 2018.

24.

Htt BB E - T ERESs

RZZE—MOFOA+RE ARFETA
® ¥ /310,000,000 7T 2 I~ A E# E 75
(ME%]) BREHFANBEHTEHE
AEFZBEH(TEHMBDEE - ARQA
BRE (TR X2 8 A AT ) b A (E
BEFZABERSRE EEFBAAN
BREPEAERES-

BEHFRFENER2%:TE - AR BES B HRE
AEFRE-BAXN BNBZRRER
HHREIEA AT RNEFFHRNZE
MM BFE  EHNER E—FEMN0%"
% R 2 B SR ZB R AN %3 BB B R
Ne T—F2MERBENRE H2% K
AIRBALA T AT EE - REHA - R R A
BEREF2ONTEEREF6% ([ £
Rl -BEHzHBHRARFRRR-F
—HFEMATARBZAEAR-

FERER ERERABEEH ZHRARNITE
TR -EELEBUGERIEMGHEBEMT
BTG (ZE—N\F EX) (EFERA=
EARECERNIGHBENEZATE
RERASHREEL(ZE—N\F: 21BN
E)AE ER)ET 2 HENEENEZ
NFER LR - WHEE R P ERE RN
RERRBENEIAFERLERIATE
KB ENEZAFERERHER
ZE-NFF+ZA=F+—RHARZZT-NF
T A=+ —BZEREUBHREER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BHE—Z—NF+_A=+—HILFE

24. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITY - NON- 24, HhH e E - FERES
CONVERTIBLE BOND (CONTINUED) (#&)
The Bond recognised in the consolidated statement of RAKE 2 ZE M BRRAKRER ZESF
financial position of the Group is calculated as follows: RN
HK$’000
—WﬁC
At 1 January 2018 R=ZE—N\&E—H—H 9,862
Interest expense (note 8) FEFZ (K1228) 237
Interest paid and payable BT R ERFLE (200)

At 31 December 2018 and at 1 January 2019 R -_Z—N\F+-_A=+—HKX

R—ZE—h&—H—H 9,899
Interest expense (note 8) MERZ (K1:28) 237
Interest paid and payable BT R ERFE (200)
At 31 December 2019 R-ZZE—-NFE+=ZA=+—H 9,936
The effective interest rate of the Bond is 2.43% per annum. BHEZEBRFNER2.43% °
The Bond is denominated in HK$. BHABITEHE-
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27.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBREAME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

SHARE CAPITAL 25. R4
2019 2018
“E-nE —EF-N\F
Number of Number of
shares HK$'000 shares HK$'000
RHB#AE Fhr L E FiHn
Ordlinary shares of HK$0.01 each SHRAFNOIET L LAR
Authorised: BE
At 1 January/at 31 December w=A—8/R+-A=+—H 100,000,000,000 1,000,000 100,000,000,000 1,000,000
2019 2018
ZB-0F 2\
Number of Number of
shares HK$'000 shares HK$'000
RB#E Thn L T
Issued and fully paid: EZTRAE:
At 1 January/at 31 December R=A-B/W+-A=+-H 700,333,925 7,003 700333925 7,003
NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE 26. EREEFE
The calculation of net asset value per share is based BREEFENEBEAEENR_Z—N4F
on net assets of the Group at 31 December 2019 +ZRA=+—HZE&EF{E297,031,000
of HK$297,031,000 (2018: HK$388,325,000) and Bt (Z=F— )\4 : 388,325,000/ 7T ) &
700,333,925 ordinary shares (2018: 700,333,925 ordinary 700,333,025 B T E B (ZF— N
shares) in issue. % :700,333,925 8 L @A) AT H -
SHARE OPTION SCHEME 27. BRETE
The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 12 AR ERZTEENF A+ RN —
January 2009 (with supplementary amendment on 30 June HEREE (RZE—ZFFA=TH
2010) (the “Scheme”). Under the Scheme, the directors HWRBEl) ([518l])) ~REBEFHE - EFA]
may, at their absolute discretion, make an offer to any FERBRBEMN2EAZWNERE -
participant to take up the options. An offer is deemed to BEREHARAERNEE 2 E RS RTE
have been accepted by the grantee upon the duplicate of K-UERREARDEREIMBLK
the offer letter comprising acceptance of the offer being Bk BREZZBERECEARAE
duly signed by the grantee and paying HK$1 by way of 4 o

consideration for the grant thereof.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) 27. BRESTE (&)

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide participants
with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the
Company and to encourage participants to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for the
benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

The subscription price for shares in the Company under the
Scheme shall be no less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the daily
quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange on the date on
which an option is granted, (i) the average closing prices of
the shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations
sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date on which an option is
granted and (i) the nominal value of a share of the Company
on the date on which an option is granted.

The total number of shares of the Company which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company shall not in aggregate exceed 144,000,000
shares of the Company, being 10% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of approval of
the Scheme. An option may be exercised during a period to
be notified by the directors but may not be exercised after
the expiry of 10 years after the date of grant of the option.

The maximum entitlement for any one participant is that
the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted to each
participant under the Scheme in any 12-month period must
not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue of the
Company. Any further grant of options in excess of the 1%
limit shall be subject to shareholders’ approval in general
meeting with such participant and his associates abstaining
from voting. The Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years from 12 January 2009.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

All share-based compensation are to be settled in equity.
The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options other than by issuing
the Company’s ordinary shares. The share options do
not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote
at shareholders’ meetings. The share options under the
Scheme have no vesting period.

On 15 April 2011, the Company granted 144,000,000
share options to its directors, employees and other grantees
at an exercise price of HK$0.27 per share. The share
options granted will be exercisable from 15 April 2011 to
14 April 2021 (both dates inclusive). Particulars of the share
options granted under the Scheme were set forth in the
announcement and the circular of the Company dated 15
April 2011 and 30 May 2011 respectively.

At the end of the reporting period, the number of shares
in respect of which may be issued upon exercise of share
options granted and remain outstanding under the Scheme
was 900,408 (2018: 900,408), representing 0.13% (2018:
0.13%) of the shares of the Company in issue at that date.
During the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, no
share option was granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled
under the Scheme.

27. BIRESTE (&)

AT B in IS E RS AR S SN - RE B
BITAR B EBARSN  NREEIW EOREK
HETE B (T RE B 8 S A e RO © BB SR ST
BTFHEARBRKREINERAG LRE
HHEN - RIBRTE) BERET EEBEY -

R-T——FWOA+THR ARFRMEE
=B B M H b A% A % H1144,000,000
MIERE 1TEESER0.2TE T I
BREAANR _ZT——FOA+HEE_"F
“T—H¥MA+TMOBE(EBREERA)HHE
MITEE - BRARIRF SR H 2 BIREFIT
EHRARREH A T ——FMHA
THEERZZE——FRAA=1THZRAER

RmEBRR TEBEFE 2R EE W
RITE2BRERETEZEITZRG
£/ A900,408% (—ZF — )\ £ : 900,408
B) MARARZBEETRAZ
0.13% (ZZE—NF:013%) ‘HE=-ZF
—NEFEERZE—N\EFEF+_A=1+—HIHF
E-FEBETHEEREERLD 176
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 BHE—Z—NF+_A=+—HILFE

27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Movements in share options at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

27. BRRERTE (&
RIEHR - BIREZ 2T :

Weighted average
Number of share options exercise price
BREHE mEFITEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-nE ZT-)\F ZB-hnEF —T)\F
HK$ HK$
B BT

Outstanding at 1 January/ m—BA—R/M+=A
at 31 December =T-AERIE

900,408 900,408 9.748 9.748

Rt ZA=t—RA T

Exercisable at 31 December

900,408 900,408 9.748 9.748

28. OPERATING LEASES

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases in respect of rented
premises which fall due as follows:

28. REMHE

REBE/SEBRA

RBERR AEEREEHEEDENT
A RS ETHE T 2 KRR RIEHEE R 5%
EZEIEEMT

2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
TETT

Within one year —FR 3,726
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EZFERF

(BEEEME) 6,660

10,386

Operating lease payments represented rentals payable by
the Group for its premises. Leases are mainly negotiated for
3 years. The Group does not have an option to purchase the
leased premises at the expiry of the lease period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBREAME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 20, KRB ZHBRRAREFEES

AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE

COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position of the (@) A2\ zB#AR R T
Company

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE

Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ER S ] 2,143 3,385
Right-of-use assets EREEE 6,198 -
Intangible asset BREE 1,215 1,215
Interests in subsidiaries N GIENGIPA: $ 10 10
9,566 4,610

Current assets REEE
Prepayments B HIA 466 364
Other receivables Hofth e Y BR 3R 5 5
Deposits paid Bffi&e 1,062 1,069
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEU T B A AR 286,260 373,831
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReFEER 1,332 6,557
289,125 381,826
Current liabilities REAE

Accruals and other payables FEFT AR SR I H b FE 1< BR 3R 731 695
Amount due to a related company e — M RBE A )2 5IE - 920
Lease liabilities HEEaE 3,481 =
4,212 1,615
Net current assets nEEEFE 284,913 380,211
Total assets less current liabilites ZEERGEA S 294,479 384,821
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BHE—Z—NF+_A=+—HILFE

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 20. ARRIZHBMRARK FHEEE
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE (%)
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
(a) Statement of financial position of the (@) XDTF2HMBARRE (F
Company (Continued)
2019 2018
—E-hEF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Other financial liability Hi B a R
— non-convertible bond — A EinES 9,936 9,899
Lease liabilities HEBE 2,874 -
12,810 9,899
Net assets BEFE 281,669 374,922
EQUITY g
Capital and reserves attributable A2 F#EE ABERAR &
to owners of the Company
Share capital P 7,003 7,003
Reserves i 274,666 367,919
Total equity AR 281,669 374,922
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of HEEEN_T-TEF=-H=-1++t
directors on 27 March 2020 and are signed on its Bt ERBEEREILBRUATALTR
behalf by: REEEEE:
Mung Kin Keung Mung Bun Man, Alan
RER EmX
Director Director
Ex EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBREAME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

2&?%%2%%%%%&%%@@
V-

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(b) RXATZHEEE

(b) Movement of reserve of the Company

Capital
Share  Contribution  Share option  contribution Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
R EE BEdEH BRERE TERE RiER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL T T FHET FEx FET
(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢)
(Hita) (Hiztb) (Hizte)
At 1 January 2018 R=Z-\%—A—H 146,099 646,448 2,665 45,330 (370,902) 469,640
Loss and total comprehensive FEFERZEFBES
loss for the year - - - - (101,721) (101,721)
At 31 December 2018 and at R=Z-N\E+=A=+-Bk
1 January 2019 R=ZE-NnE—A—H 146,099 646,448 2,665 45,330 (472,623) 367,919
Loss and total comprehensive FEEERZASELE
loss for the year - - - - (98,253) (98,253)
At 31 December 2019 R=Z-NE+=A=+-H 146,099 646,448 2,665 45,330 (565,876) 274,666
Notes: Wit

@)

The contributed surplus of the Company brought forward
represents the amount transferred from the share
premium due to the share premium reduction effective
on 23 November 2015 and various capital reduction
subsequently. Under the Company Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended), the contributed surplus is available for
distribution. However, the Company cannot make a
distribution out of the contributed surplus if: (j) it is, or
would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as
they become due; or (ii) the realisable value of its assets
would thereby be less than its liabilities.

@ ARFZEAFEBEBRERAKDEE
AR —E-—RF+—A-+=B4LE
MMER AR REZ FIALERS
REXRHR - RIFARE-NN\—F
RANE (BT BE#AEBAHY
& AT ARBNBETIIBER T
BRABIEL DR : (VR SIRN &R
EEENRRE  RHBEECERE
BEELREEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(b) Movement of reserve of the Company
(Continued)

Notes: (Continueq)

)

Share option reserve represents the fair value of services
estimated to be received in exchange for the grant of the
relevant share option over the relevant vesting periods,
the total of which is based on the fair value of the share
option at grant date. The amount for each period is
determined by spreading the fair value of the share option
over the relevant vesting period (if any) and is recognised
as staff costs and related expenses with a corresponding
increase in the share option reserve.

Capital contribution reserve represents Mr. Mung, a
director and a substantial shareholder of the Company,
had compensated the Group from suffering loss of
deposits paid for investments in prior years, and fulfilled
his responsibility as a personal guarantee and settled all
outstanding balance of deposits paid for investments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B IS AR MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

30. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the
Group had the following significant transactions with related
parties:

(i) Material transactions with related parties:

30. EXBEALIRS

BRI FRa M B RREMEHKE 2R
5 BRI NEBEBEA LRI MLA T
BERXS:

() EHBEEALTZERRS:

2019 2018

ZE-hF —T-N\F

Note HK$’000 HK$'000
ik T FHT

Managerial and administrative 21t/ BN EERAEZ
service paid/payable to EERITHREE

related company (a) - 2,865
Commission and other handiing B,/ B BE QG Z
charge paid/payable to AeRkHEMFES
related company (@) 6 91
Rental expenses paid/payable to  2ff /BN EEELN 2
related companies MeRx (@) - 791
Interest on lease liabilities paid/ 2t/ FENAEEAFZ
payable to related companies ~ HEBEHE (@) 418 =
Managerial and administrative B4/ TEWREEE AR Z
service received/receivable ERRITHREE
from related company (@) 146 137
Remuneration paid to close INFEEEBEAE
family members of key ikl
management personnel
— Salaries and other —&e REMER
allowances 20 120
- Retirement benefits scheme —RIRREAE EME R
contributions 1 6
21 126

Note: (@)  The directors of the Company, Mr. Mung and Mr.
Mun Bun Man, Alan, have beneficial interests in the
related companies.

i (@ ARAEBEREREEREHNE
ERBEERREAEEREE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BHE—Z—NF+_A=+—HILFE

30. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 30. EXBEEALRS (£)

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(i) Compensation of key management (i) FEEBAEBZHEHEE
personnel remuneration
Compensation for key management personnel, FTEEBABZHE BEENEAA
including amount paid to the Company’s directors, AEE FETHRABRETESH
chief executive and certain of the highest paid BifE 8 (W4RE B SRR M s 11 Pt
employees, as disclosed in note 11 to the B)Z2E&BUT

consolidated financial statements, is as follow:

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Salaries and other allowances e R EAMERL 5,570 9,484
Retirement benefits scheme R ARAE FFT S 3K
contributions 43 96
5,613 9,580
The remuneration of directors, chief executive officer B THREHRMEEEBEABZH
and key management personnel is determined by MoBEFMEEeRBEEAARE R
the remuneration committee having regard to the MiZBEMEE

performance of individuals and market trends.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

30. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

31.

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(iii) Details of the balance with related companies and a
director at the end of the reporting period are set out
in notes 18, 22 and 23 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

(iv) On 30 November 2016, Mr. Mung, a director and
shareholder of the Company, as a lender, and the
Group, as a borrower, entered into a loan agreement
pursuant to which Mr. Mung has agreed to grant a
Loan to the Group. The Loan is non-interest bearing
and repayable on demand. During the year ended
31 December 2018, the Group fully repaid the Loan
to the director. The Loan is constituted as a connect
transaction of the Company which fully exempted
from shareholders’ approval, annual review and alll
disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates MPF Scheme under rules and
regulations of Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all employees employed in Hong Kong.
The Group has chosen to follow the minimum statutory
contribution requirement of 5% of eligible employees’
monthly relevant income but limited to the mandatory cap
of HK$30,000. The contributions are charged to profit or
loss as incurred. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administrative fund.

30. EXEAEALRE (&)

31.

(ili) RSP AREBERARREEZH
BZFBORFREE Y B REKMN
18 2223 °

(iv) RZF-—RE+—-A=1+H AR
RAESEHRBRRAREE ((FERET)HE
AEB ((ERIET)RILERBH
Bt REtCRBERAEEREE
K- BEERSTEIERAARENRE
B-RBE_ZT-N\F+-A=1—
HIEFE AEBCREZZHEER
ER-EFBAARB 2BERS
RIELETRAEZEHRRRIAE - F
EERLAEREMRE -

RKBERE

AREBEBRERWIERBEFENEI 2R
AINRPISEMBEEBRERLAES
AHE AREDEBERIEAEHFRE
FEEREESABRBERAZS%MHK
B8 AW A LR RIAE 230,000 7T ° #
PREERESFSBDRME BB
2EERAKEZEENRRE LA
—HEBVERESER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

32. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 32.
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

MEXBELE2RGE2HER

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TERFMAEEREXBEECBECE
arising from financing activities, including both cash and ) BRASKIIRCEG MEEBE
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities S BEREERESREEHAKRBAERE

are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows wil BRAREGERERERDER/RER
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash BEEZHRESRECAE-
flows as cash flows from financing activities.
Other
financial
liability-
non-
Margin Obligation  convertible
loan from Loan from under a bond
securities a director finance Hit
Interest broker RE Leases lease BIEAE-
payable RHELZ —-3ES liabilities g FUEHR Total
[ GETES RFREXR ZER HESE HERE &% @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAL FAT FAT FAL FAL FAL FAL
At 1 January 2018 R=Z—-/\&—A—H 143 - 10,000 - 192 9,862 20,197
Financing cash flows BERETE (262) 1,635 (10,000) - (192) = (8,819)
Non-cash changes FReEE
Interest expenses recognised 2 HERRH 55
(note 8) (Hi#8) 262 - - - - 37 299
At 31 December 2018 RZZ—\F
+=A=1+-H 143 1,635 - - - 9,899 11,677
Application of HKFRS 16 [ERABH KRS LR
(note 2) E165%: (M1i22) - - - 9,663 - = 9,663
At 1 January 2019 R=ZE-h&—A—H 143 1,635 - 9,663 - 9,899 21,340
Financing cash flows RERERE (765) (1,635) - (3,308) - - (5,708)
Non-cash changes FReEE
Interest expenses recognised & AH B %
(note § (Hiits) 765 - - - - 37 802
At 31 December 2019 R-Z-h&
+=-A=+-H 143 - - 6,355 - 9,936 16,434
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks
through its use of financial instruments in its ordinary
course of operations and in its investment activities.
Financial risks include market risk (including interest rate
risk and foreign currency risk), credit risk, other price risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
focuses on unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. Risk management is carried out
by key management under the policies approved by the
board of directors. The Group does not have written risk
management policies. However, the board of directors meet
regularly and co-operate closely with key management
to identify and evaluate risks and to formulate strategies
to manage financial risks. The Group has not used any
derivatives or other instruments for hedging purposes and
has not held or issued derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes. The most significant risks to which the
Group is exposed to are described below.

33.1 Categories of financial assets and
financial liabilities

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s
financial instruments mainly consisted of other
receivables, deposits paid, amount due from a related
company, financial assets at FVTPL, cash and cash
equivalents, accruals and other payables, amount
due to a related company, lease liabilities and other
financial liability — non-convertible bond.

33. B EAREER AFES

fim

AEERNEABEERRET METHER
BB R B 7 A T [ B 5 R B A R
e HARBREMSRR (BEFNERE
aRINERR) FEERR EMERR
aMRBETER AEEZEEBRRE
HEIESRMMB AAERNE  AZ R
HAKEHHERRAZBETNTERER
E-EREEATIEEEABREESRS
B2 BRAET - A EREYEE@ERE
BERE-AM EFSTHETBEEA
BEAHGRMERETINEME  UEH &
T A LR DA Ko AT B I B 7% L B 2 SR
AEEWEERTAITETAKEMTA
TES MR g - R\ A L BITITEM S
TEEEERZ AREfMEHIHER
[\ B 1 T SR A

BIMBEERMBEB 2

RBEHR AEB 2B TATE
BREAMERERR EfIEE  BK
—RERRRIE BEBBHERUR
FEINEZHBEE REMREF
BIE B - ERTBRF N E A A AR AN

LEMMBEE- TR ERES-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BHE—Z—NF+_A=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. IKEREER AFEFE

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (#&)

(CONTINUED)

33.1Categories of financial assets and BIBEERUKEEEZEA
financial liabilities (Continued) (4
The carrying amounts presented in the Group’s RASEZHEEUHBRAKRENZ
consolidated statement of financial position relate FHBEEATHHEEERMTBAG
to the following categories of financial assets and HRIBR:

financial liabilities:

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHBT FHET
Financial assets B EE
Amortised cost S AR
— Other receivables — H b B I BR 53X 2,576 7,401
— Deposits paid —Bffi&ke 1,062 1,069
— Amount due from a related — R —MEEE R R FIE
company 84 330
— Cash and cash equivalents —-ReMIRELEFEMEIEHR 3,857 38,500
Financial assets at FVTPL FBBERREAAFEYERZ
BB E 316,419 361,790
323,998 409,090
Financial liabilities g S=N
Accruals and other payables JE 5T BR 3R K ELAth FE S BR 3K 26,216 20,586
Amount due to a related company  FEf — I REE A A1FIAE - 920
Lease liabilities HESE 6,355 =
Other financial liability Hth s aE
— non-convertible bond — A BRES 9,936 9,899
42,507 31,405
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. I RAREERAFEITE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (#4&)
(CONTINUED)
33.2Market risk 33.2 1 5 A b

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value
or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.

The Group has interest-bearing assets in relation to
cash at banks carried at effective interest rates with
reference to the market. The Group’s income and
operating cash flows are substantially independent
of changes in market interest rates. The Group has
not used any financial instrument to hedge potential
fluctuations in interest rates. The exposure to interest
rates risk for the Group’s cash at banks is considered
minimal. The Group has no variable rate interest
bearing borrowings which is not exposed to changes
in market interest rates.

The Group does not have any significant exposure to
interest rate risk at the end of the reporting period and
is not exposed to changes in market interest rates.

The policies to manage interest rate risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years and are
considered to be effective.

FIEE R

MEmEE RGBT AZ A FERK
RenE@RMmBSMNEEFHMHLR
KB EBRER-

AEBEAABREE FSRAREMS
ZEBRRNEXGFRBZRTRAS - AKH
ZWAREERRERNIBD BIL
TAT 5 M R &) - AR E I RERE
Al 8 755 T B B 1 M R E » AR
BIRTTIRE 2 M R E R AR BB -
7R 55 [ 3 T T A5 ) R 2 B
ZRREE-

RIBS IR - A R E I WA (A E
AR B - TR 45 %
S5 AR -

AEBEBRBEFEAR-—BEETE
IR R B 2 R - WA ZFBR
B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BHE—Z—NF+_A=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. IKEMEER AFENE

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (%)

(CONTINUED)

33.2Market risk (Continued) 332z AR (&)
Foreign currency risk ISR B
The Group operates in Hong Kong and majority of REBREBELEERKILOXZIN
transactions are denominated in HK$, USD and BT ETRARE (AR5
Renminbi (‘RMB”). Foreign currency risk arises from BeNERBREAREERS B2
future commercial transactions, recognised assets HREERBE (RILIEREEIEE
and liabilities, which are denominated in a currency BB EMETE) ©

that is not the functional currency of the Group.

At the end of each reporting period, the carrying RERER  NEBUAINE (W IE
amounts of the monetary assets and liabilities of the MeEEB ) FHECEBEERBEZ
Group, which are denominated in foreign currencies, FREEHT:
that is not the functional currency, are as follows:
Liabilities Assets
af EE
2019 2018 2019 2018

“E-nE TN\ ZB-AE ZT)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THT TR THT

RVB AR - 72 114 23,813
usD ETT - - 56,033 7,054
The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk AEBEVEBMBEABTRETZ

in respect of HK$ against the USD as long as this SN [ fax - MEZE B EZ B M 8 o

currency is pegged.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBREAME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. I RAREERAFEITE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (#4&)
(CONTINUED)

33.2 Market risk (Continued) 332G Rk (&)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currency. The Group will
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to
a 5% increase and decrease in HK$ against RMB.
5% is the sensitivity rate used which represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the end of the reporting period for
a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A negative
number below indicates an increase in pre-tax loss
where HK$ strengthens 5% against RMB. For a 5%
weakening of HK$ against RMB, there would be
an equal and opposite impact on the loss and the
balances below would be positive.

S m B (AR

AEBEBRAERRAINETFEZE
ENBEHEIMNEENEEK - KEE
MR EREINE R - WA A
Z & B ERSMNE E R o

BRESN

TRANAKEHBETHARE £
Tt BT BR6% 2 GUKIE © 5% 3Pk A
ZHRBRER JVEEELE R
RAeBE8H b -BREDM
EREBERLBUIINETEZERIER
B W HEHRILE% 2 E R
HBREBE - TRZBERTETLL
AR THES % BR B AT B 18R hn 2
B - AT ARBRZESS Alg
HERERFREEARZEE MU
THRESRE/ER-

2019 2018
—E-NF —ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT

If HK$ strengthens against fis % 7T AR B E5%
RMB by 5%

If HK$ weakens against RMB fiw 78 7T A R B2 E5%
by 5%

(6) (1,187)

6 1,187
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. EBREERAFEE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (#&)
(CONTINUED)

33.2 Market risk (Continued) 332G Rk (&)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Management considered the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign currency risk
as the exposure at the end of each reporting period
does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in equity and debt securities measured
at FVTPL. For equity and debt securities measured
at FVTPL quoted in relevant stock exchanges, the
directors manage this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risks. In addition,
the Group also invested in certain equity securities
listed in relevant stock exchanges without quoted
market price, unlisted equity securities for investees
operating in different industry sectors and unlisted
investment funds which had been classified as
financial assets at FVTPL. The Group has appointed a
special team to monitor the price risk and will consider
hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

To manage its market price risk arising from these
investments, the Group diversifies its portfolio.
Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance
with the limits set by the board of directors.

The policies to manage other price risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years and are
considered to be effective.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. I RAREERAFEITE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (#4&)
(CONTINUED)

33.2 Market risk (Continued) 332G Rk (&)

Other price risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses have been determined based
on the exposure to equity price risk at the end of the
reporting period. Sensitivity analyses for certain equity
securities listed in relevant stock exchanges without
quoted market price, unlisted equity securities and
unlisted investment funds with fair value measurement
categorised within Level 3 were disclosed in note
33.5 to the consolidated financial statements. For
sensitivity analysis of equity and debt securities with
fair value measurement categorised within Level 1,
the sensitivity rate is increased to 35% in 2019 (2018:
35%) as a result of the volatile financial market.

If the prices of the respective equity and debt
securities had been 35% (2018: 35%) higher/lower,
the post-tax loss for the year ended 31 December
2019 would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$88,134,000 (2018: increase/decrease by
HK$105,204,000) as a result of the changes in fair
value of listed equity and debt securities classified as
financial assets at FVTPL.

33.3 Credit risk and impairment assessment

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
to cover its credit risks associated with its financial
assets. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to other receivables, deposits paid, amount due from
a related company and bank balances. The Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the
carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

HtoE%mEb (&)
BRED

BRESMIRBERREHRAED
KRERKRMETCHE TEEBES
R EMZEAFESR (EMHR
&) ATEFAEVEAE=RBAZ
FETRABHERIIELMEEES
ZHBRE DR G A B R & M
?%5@&% RATEFEDER
—BRZBRAREBES 2 B
E STME ARSI RS &
RELEN T —NFHEE35% (=
T—\F:35%)

EERARBEBESFZEBRE LR
S T #35% (—F— )\ % :35%) -
ERDEAFRAESEENAYET
Rz ETRARBEEES 2 AFE
B HE_T-NF+_A=1+—
BIEFEZRES EFA THY
88,134,000 L (ZE— \F : £F
/T #105,204,000/ 7T ) °

3335 E Ak KR E R {4

RZE—NFRZZFE-NF+ZA
=+ —H  AEEWEEE AR
on 3k At 3% {5 T B DA JE % B0 2 BF 7%
BENBEEERR AEE 2 ZE

AIEXEE@E%$% SEDEES
ﬁ e UL —E BE 3 N B A LA KR 1T
Eer e AEBRAR %ﬁ?%ﬁ@ﬁa
EMBHAEEEKTBIBL &
AEERR - HREEGREHBEMRRE
ol R IBE RV G EE 2 REE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B Z — T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. EEMEER AFETE

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (#4&)

(CONTINUED)

33.3 Credit risk and impairment assessment 3BI3EERBRBENME (&)
(Continued)
The directors considered the credit risk of the Group’s EERE AEBEEME HSZ R
other receivables, deposits paid and amount due from e REW— R E R A HE Z
a related company are relatively low as they have a low TERBAESIR  REAZZHE
risk of default and the issuer has a strong capacity to BIRZEQNREP B 8T AERE KL
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near FRIEHTERAEGNRERETE-
term.
The Group deposited its bank balances with approved AEBERERITEBTHRNE
and reputable banks. Bankruptcy or insolvency of FEBRIFZIRTT -ZERT ﬁ)ﬁ%jz
the banks may cause the Group’s right with respect i3 77 BEEXNGERAEERMFIR
to bank balances held to be delayed or limited. AR 2 B A A IR oKX B IR ) o
Management of the Company monitors the credit $ AEREEeREERLERT
rating of these banks on an ongoing basis, and ZEEFF YRAELAEER T
considers that the Group’s exposure to credit risk at —NEF+ZA=F—HBEZZE—N
31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 were F+-_A=Z+—BAXZEER
minimal. B o
The Group does not have any other significant AEBVEANEMEREPEE
concentrations of credit risk. The exposures to these BB ZEEERBIIZFERE LR
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. o

33.4Liquidity risk BARBESE
Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not MENVE & B fe Ty B AR & B R B
be able to meet its obligations associated with its NBReSIHEMPBEEA & Si
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash THBBEEBETZRERER -~
or another financial asset. The Group is exposed to % @ 15 B FE 51 BR 30 K H b FE 1~ BR
liquidity risk in respect of settlement of accruals and FoEN—HBEEARNRE - HES
other payables, amount due to a related company, BEREMBEEE TR ERES
lease liabilities and other financial liability-non- UERERESREETEFERERD
convertible bond and also in respect of its cash flow BB  NEEZBFEERERR
management. The Group’s objective is to maintain an BEEREAHESNEE 7J<$ LA
appropriate level of liquid assets and committed lines THEHERRBABESFT K

of funding to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and long term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBREAME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. MKRAKREERATFETE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (#&)
(CONTINUED)
33.4 Liquidity risk (Continued) BARBESE (&)
The liquidity policies have been followed by the Group AEBEBBRAFEUR—BFETR
since prior years and are considered to have been BESHE TRAZFREEER
effective in managing liquidity risks. nBECREIEITZAR
Analysed below is the Group’s remaining contractual INTOMBAREEZIETETBEE
maturities for its non-derivative financial liabilities, B2 RBELOHNHER EPRES
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash VARITEReRERAEBEBES
flows and the earliest date the Group can be required REZ2=FHH:
to pay:
Total
contractual
Within undiscounted
Effective  one year or cash flow
interest  on demand Within More than a4 Carrying
rate —FR% 2-5years 5years AHERSL amount

BRAE EEX —ERfpn  BBIF  REAME REE
% HK$'000 ~ HK§'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000

At 31 December 2019 RZZB-AE+=ZB=+-H TET THET FET FET TR
Non-derivative financial FTEHFERE:
liabilities:
Accruals and other payables JERHER TRt B AT AR K - 26,216 - - 26,216 26,216
Lease liabilties HEAE 5.13 3,726 2,934 - 6,660 6,355
Other financial liability Htbf%aE
- non-convertible bond ~TAERES 243 200 10,400 - 10,600 9,936
30,142 13,334 - 43,476 42,507
Total
contractual
Within undiscounted
Effective  one year or cash flow
interest  on demand Within More than & Carrying
rate —FRH 2-5 years Syears ATEEE amount

ERAE EEX —ERFM  BBRF  REAME REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

At 31 December 2018 WZE-\F+ZA=1+—H TET FET FET FTHT FTHT
Non-derivative financial FITLHBEE:

liabilities:
Accruals and other payables JE ST AR AR I EL At A5 R 3K 6.125 20,586 - - 20,586 20,586
Amount dug to a related company  JERf —FIBIE AR Z B - 920 - - 920 920
Other financial liability Hino B8 E

- non-convertible bond ~TAERES 243 200 800 9,800 10,800 9,899

21,706 800 9,800 32,306 31,406
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. X RAREERAFEITE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (#&)
(CONTINUED)

BARBES R (&)
AEBRTIHERERTHESER
HEEMKEAE AN RS RE B
FIRBREERRASELR S ZH

33.4 Liquidity risk (Continued)

The Group considers expected cash flows from
financial assets in assessing and managing liquidity
risk, in particular, its cash resources and other liquid
assets that readily generate cash. The Group’s HREEE AEBZREREER
existing cash resources and other liquid assets REMRBEERRBHESMN
significantly exceed the cash outflow requirements. B A 7E ©

BS5HKTEZAFE

AEEZREEBEY R FENBZHE
BEEZAFE

33.5 Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

TRENREBERBERARKRLEE
ERGECHBEEZATE AT
REBMBEREERFEIRLFE
GTEFARTEENDR=BAFELEE-
ANEEHAES D ZERERGE
B2 ABZABREREE
MEEWAT:

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial assets measured at the end of the
reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined
in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. The level
into which a fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

° Level 1 valuations: fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
at the measurement date;

° Level 2 valuations: fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
input for which market data are not available;
and

° Level 3 valuations: fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBREAME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. I RAREERAFEITE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (#4&)
(CONTINUED)
33.5Fair value of financial instruments 35T EZAYE (&)
(Continued)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
At 31 December 2019 R-E-hAE+=-A=1-H F-BR FEZBR FE=ZBRX act

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT TR TR TR

Fair value on a recurring basis REEEEG BV AYE
Financial assets at FVTPL BREREALTETIEZ
HEEE

— listed equity and debt securities — AR ERES 251,812 = 110 251,922
- unlisted equity securities —JE LR 3B - - 41,338 41,338
~ unlisted investment funds —FEMBRERES - - 23,159 23,159
251,812 - 64,607 316,419
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\F+ZA=+—H E—ER EZER E-ER @5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT TAT TET

Fair value on a recurring basis REBEEHELATE

Financial assets at FVTPL EREZEURTETIR

LHBEE
~ listed equity and debt securities — R R ERE S 300,583 = 3,765 304,348
- unlisted equity securities — I EMBRAES - - 35,864 35,364
— unlisted investment funds —FEmEEES = = 21,578 21,578

300,583 61,207 361,790

The majority of listed equity and debt securities are
denominated in HK$, RMB and USD. Fair values have
been determined by reference to their quoted market
closing prices at the end of the reporting period and
have been translated using the spot foreign currency
rates at the end of the reporting period where
appropriate.

REBn EMBRAREHESIIRET A
RERETIE - A FELLERENR
EHRZARRHEEE AEERRRK
THRER 2 AHSMERE R E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B Z — T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. X RAREERAFEITE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (#&)
(CONTINUED)

BSUBTAZRYE (&)

33.5 Fair value of financial instruments

(Continued)

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
independent qualified professional valuers to perform
the valuation. The management works closely with the
independent qualified professional valuers to establish
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model. The management reports the findings to the
directors at the end of each reporting period to explain
the cause of fluctuations in fair value of the asset.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, there were
no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers
into or out of Level 3.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there were
no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2.

On 8 August 2018, one of the Group’s equity
securities listed in Hong Kong classified as financial
assets at FVTPL was suspended trading. Therefore,
no unadjusted quoted price in an active market is
available and the Group then measured fair value
of suspended trading security by reference to the
valuation carried out by Graval in which fair value was
measured by using significant unobservable inputs.
Thus, the fair value of suspended trading security was
reclassified to Level 3 valuation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBREAME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

33.5 Fair value of financial instruments
(Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

Valuation
techniques

EER M

33.

BHEREER QA FES

(#&)

fin

BSUBTAZRNYE (&)

BRE=F

Significant
unobservable
inputs

b )
BEBAE

RAFEBZEH

Relation of
significant
unobservable
inputs to fair value
BEATTEHERAE
HAFEZBAE

N —g_
+=A=+—H
Suspended trading TEEER Market Minimum P/B
securities listed BEEEMZES approach multiples of
in Hong Kong mizE 0.6
RIETRRE
Z20.6
Marketability
discount
rate of 20.6%
20.6%
Unlisted equity FEETRAES Market approach Median P/E
securities and share multiples of 12.7
value HRUEMRREH
allocation 12.7
model
miHERRME
EnEER

The minimum P/B multiples
is positively correlated
to the fair value
measurement of the
suspended trading
securities listed in Hong
Kong N

REMREEHET
BENES L2
ZATEEEEEH

The discount rate is

negatively correlated
to the fair value

MISRE M ER  measurement of the

suspended trading
securities listed in Hong
Kong

The median P/E multiples
is positively correlated
to the fair value
measurement of the
unlisted equity securities

GHVE gkt ErE e
MIRARE 57 2 N FEE

il

il
Mo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. KRAKREERATFETE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (#&)
(CONTINUED)
33.5Fair value of financial instruments BSMBETEATE (&)
(Continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements BBEF=EAXAFETEZEH (&)
(Continued)
Relation of
Significant significant
unobservable  unobservable
Valuation inputs inputs to fair value
techniques BEART BEATUEHEHAE

fEERM BEaAE RAVEZBE

Lower quartle  The lower quartile P/S
P/S multiples of ~ multiples is positively
3.0 correlated to the fair
KA AITISEE  value measurement
£ 3.0 of the unlisted equity
securities *
N VARE BN Er s
NP ENcE, AN |
StEZ IR

Marketability The discount rate is
discount rate of  negatively correlated
20.6% to the fair value

i m et measurement of the
g E20.6%  unlisted equity securities

ke FimRAES

ZATEGEZEHEH
Expected volatility The expected volatility is
of 52.5% to positively correlated
68.2% to the fair value
FBERIB52.5%%  measurement of the
68.2% unlisted equity securities
FRHDR R 5E E R A E
HFZ AT EFEZIEM

9H

Risk free rate of  The risk free rate is
1.68% to 1.74% negatively correlated
ERBFE1.68% tothe fair value
£1.74% measurement of the
unlisted equity securities
mE AR I ETARAR

BHEZATENEEZS
izl
Asset-based N/A N/A
__approach TEA TEA
BE)
Unlisted investment FETREES Net asset N/A N/A
funds value NiE A NiE

BEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B IS AR MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33.
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)
33.5Fair value of financial instruments

(Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

(Continued)
Valuation
techniques
fH{EH AT

BHEREERAVEFE
(4&)

BSUBTAZRNYE (&)

EHE=BRAFHETEBZEH (&)

Relation of
Significant significant
unobservable  unobservable
inputs inputs to fair value
BEART BEATUEHEHAE
BEBAE HAFEZAR

At 31 December 2018

R-F—\fF
+-A=+—H

Suspended trading EEEER Market
securities listed EELmeES  approach
in Hong Kong %A

Comparable The comparable company
company return  return basis is positively
basis 0of 3.37%  correlated to the fair
10 12.27% value measurement of

AALLEAFIEIR  the suspended trading
REMEZ37%Z  securities listed in Hong
12.27% Kong

Tﬁttf 7@?&&?%/&

Net asset value  The net asset value per

per share of share is positively
HK$0.003 to correlated to the fair
HK$1.75 value measurement of
BREEFE the suspended trading
0.003& L& securities listed in Hong
1,757 70 Kong N
BREEFEREEER
REB LM ZERZA
FEEZERE
Discount rate The discount rate is
of 78.01% negatively correlated
B3R %&78.01% to the fair value

measurement of the
suspended trading
securities listed in Hong

Kong N
Hﬁiﬁ$,\ﬁ{? BEERES

Eiiz@EH R FER

E28H#H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BHE—Z—NF+_A=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. IKEREER AFEFE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (#&)
(CONTINUED)
33.5Fair value of financial instruments BSHBHEITRZAFE (&)
(Continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements BBEE=ZEBRAFEIAEZEF (&)
(Continued)
Relation of
Significant significant
unobservable  unobservable
Valuation inputs inputs to fair value
techniques BEART BEATUEHEHAE
fhER BEBAE HAFEZAR
Unlisted equity FEMRAES Market Average P/S The average P/S multiples
securities approach multiples of is positively correlated
mizE 3.91t05.16 to the fair value
MR FHEE measurement of the
3.9%5.16 unlisted equity securities

MR EIOEHEIE
BAZS 2 RVEE
ESnsiEl

Marketability The discount rate is
discount rate of  negatively correlated
25% to 35% to the fair value

MSREENZER  measurement of the

25%%35% unlisted equity securities
ZATEEEIE FHRAE
HZATEFEZAME
7
Asset-based Minority The discount rate is
approach discount rate negatively correlated
BEX of 5% to the fair value
DHBRENEE  measurement of the
5% unlisted equity securities
ZITEREIE FHRAE
FZATEFEZAME
72
Unlisted investment funds FEMREES Net asset N/A N/A
value NE A TNE A

BEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBREAME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. MBEKREERAFETE

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (#&)

(CONTINUED)

33.5Fair value of financial instruments BSUBITEZAFE (&)
(Continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements BBE=ZEBRXAFEFAEZEF (&)
(Continued)
Information about the valuation techniques used in FHETEEEERES FLMBRA
determining the fair value of the suspended trading BHERIIELTRERES ZCRFERN
securities, unlisted equity securities and unlisted FRZEERMZER TR EXE
investment funds are disclosed above. o
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfer into and AEBZHRARERBEEE K
out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the ZEHNEREEEH L ATE
events or change in circumstances that caused the Wz EASEH -
transfer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BHE—Z—NF+_A=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. BiIEMERER AFEFTE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (%)
(CONTINUED)
33.5Fair value of financial instruments BSUBEITEZATE (&
(Continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements EBZE=BXAFHEITEZEH (&)
(Continued)
The following table presents the changes in fair value TREVWNDERE=ZEXEHBEZH
of financial assets which are classified as Level 3 BEEZANFEEE:
valuations:
HK$°000
FTART
At 1 January 2018 RZZE-N\F—HA—H 51,191
Transfer from Level 1 BEREE—|EX 1,435
Gain arising in change in fair value of financial assets E BB EA R FEFIERZ
at FVTPL MHREEZ ATEESES 2 W 8,581
At 31 December 2018 and at 1 January 2019 RZZE-NF+ZA=+—HAK=Z
—hW$&—A—H 61,207
Investment in unlisted equity securities FEMRABEFRE 3,900
Loss arising in change in fair value of BRERBEUATEIRZHBEER
financial assets at FVTPL TEEFHEL 2 EE (500)
At 31 December 2019 R-ZE-hFE+=-A=+-—H 64,607
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and WHBEEEREFTENFEZEIEEY
financial liabilities that are not measured at fair KEERHMKAEBZLAFE

value on a recurring basis

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial RZEBE-NFRZFE-NFTH
liabilities carried at cost or amortised cost were =+—B ERARSEERAYER
not materially different form their fair value at 31 MBEERVKEE  REMERR
December 2019 and 2018, FEZAFEIEERAER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

34. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
provide an adequate return to shareholders.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future
capital requirements of the Group, prevailing and projected
capital expenditures and projected strategic investment
opportunities. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior years.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue of new
shares or redemption of existing shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.

34. EXERE

AEBEXRERZ AERERASEES
BRENAFEEELE URBBRERTR
FEAR [ o

AEEBEREHENRERHE AR
1 AR BB AR R R E R
EEETESS PRV S LT NE
RIBHAARE REHFHRERE A
S B RS LA AR R -

REFRABERRE  FAEE AR
XNFRRzZBEEZE MRREDE
R BITHRDIBBLRBRO AL EE
ENEEEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RIS AR MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BHE—Z—NF+_A=+—HILFE

34. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 34.

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts
(which includes lease liabilities and other financial liability —

non-convertible bond) and total equity.

The gearing ratios at the end of the reporting period are as

EXREE (&)
N o B BB <P O R E AN 2 A AR -
AEEZARRBEREEFE (LA
BRBRAMMBEE-TABRES)
RS AR -

RBEMRZEEABLLEWT:

follows:

2019 2018

—E-hE —ZET-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Total debts (note) BB (Hit) 16,291 9,899
Less: Cash and cash equivalents BBRe MRS EEER (3,857) (38,500)
Net debt/(cash) &%,/ (Re)FHE 12,434 (28,601)
Total equity WS eE 297,031 388,325
Net debt to equity ratio (ER B Endn s 4.2% N/A 73 A
Total debt to equity ratio (ERF R Endn s 5.5% 2.5%

Note: Total debts comprise lease liabilities and other financial liability —
non-convertible bond.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

35. INVESTMENT

Pursuant to the requirements stipulated in Chapter 21.12
of the Listing Rules, the Group discloses its list of all
investments with a value greater than 5% of the Group’s
gross assets and at least 10 largest investments at 31
December 2019 and 31 December 2018 respectively as

35 RE

BiE EHBEAEN128THEE K
SEEER-_ZT-NF+_A=1+—8HK
— - \F+-_A=+—HFEEERR
AEBEEBESNZIRE N R&ADI10E
BRAREZYIRAT

follows:

At 31 December 2019

R=B—AE+=A=+—8

Market value/
fair value
at31
December
Percentage  Net assets 2019
of equity attributable RZE-NE
interest to the +=A
held Company Cost of =t-A Dividend
FIBERA  ARXFEE  investment ZHfE,/ received
ERESN BERE REME AYE EBRE
Name of investments Notes % HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
REAR i THERT THL THET TET
Listed equity and debt securities EELMRARERES
in Hong Kong
Beiing Enterprises Water Group Limited IEKBEERERAT (@ 0.04 17,858 20,122 16,138 740
Brockman Mining Limited Brockman‘l\*ﬂinir\wg Limited (b) 293 18,091 44,597 35,652 -
hRREBREERDR"
China Information Technology FEESREERERAA (© 3.32 13,392 26,435 15,959 -
Development Limited
China State Construction International FEELARAREEERA A (d 0.04 19,177 19,562 13,466 533
Holdings Limited
Greenland Hong Kong Holdings Limited BB BERERAR () NATER  NATER 15,600 15758  N/ATER
Huayi Tencent Entertainment Company Limited ~ ZEHBEAEL AR A 7 ] 1.16 9,630 82,330 17,160 -
Kaisa Group Holdings Ltd. EXEEBEREBR AT (9 0.17 85,536 37,098 37,966 1,217
Listed debt securities outside Hong Kong B bl sz LK E %
Seazen Group Limited HRERERERAA (h) NATER  NATER 23,317 23373  N/ATEH
Unlisted equity securities outside ERUANZELTRARS
Hong Kong
Oddup Inc. Oddup Inc.
~ Preference shares -BER 0] NATER  NATER 11,700 13,354 -
Unlisted investment funds outside ERUNZELHRERS
Hong Kong
Click Ventures Segregated Click Ventures Segregated (i)
Portfolio Company Portfolio Company
- Fund Series 3T SP —Fund Series 3T SP N/ATER  NATER 7,800 17,043 -
288,561 205,869

* (EHRBG
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BHE—Z—NF+_A=+—HILFE

35. INVESTMENT (CONTINUED) 35. & (&)

At 31 December 2018 RZF-\F+=ZA=+—H
Market

value/fair

value at 31

December

Percentage  Net assets 2018
ofequity  attributable RZE-N\F

interest tothe +=A

held  Company Costof =1—H Dividend
FrBERA  AQAREE  investment  ZmfE/ received
mEAL  EAEFE  BEARK AEE  BREKRE

Name of investments % HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
REAE TER TR TER FiER
Listed equity and debt securities ER L MRARELES
in Hong Kong
Affluent Partners Holdings Limited Affluent Partners Holdings Limited 2.21 4,793 29,341 43,442 -
BERRERAR"
Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited EERBEEEBRAR 0.04 15,650 19,349 15,645 662
Brockman Mining Limited Brockman Mining Limited 2.95 16,198 44,597 48,616 =
hRREBREARAR
China Information Technology FEEEREERERAA 3.33 14,850 26,435 17,858 =
Development Limited
Frontier Services Group Limited Frontier Services Group Limited 0.41 4,920 9,697 12,008 -
FERBEERERAA"
Greenland Hong Kong Holdings Limited B BERERAR NATER  NATER 15,600 15758  N/ATNEE
Huayi Tencent Entertainment Company Limited ~ ZREIRLAE R A 7 1.35 11,737 103,487 35,378 -
Kingston Financial Group Limited SHELREEARAA 0.07 15,363 36,608 18,600 200

Listed equity securities outside Hong Kong BB ETRAES
Kuang-chi Technologies Co., Ltd. KRBT ERAA 0.09 7,975 25,036 22,402 -

Unlisted investment funds outside Hong Kong ~ &S LASN 2 E LR EES

Click Ventures Segregated Click Ventures Segregated Portfolio
Portfolio Company Company
- Fund Series 3T SP - Fund Series 3T SP NATER  NATNER 7,800 17,393 -

317,850 247,000

*ERES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

35. INVESTMENT (CONTINUED)

*

Notes:

(@)

Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited was incorporated in
the Bermuda and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 00371). Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited is
principally engaged in water treatment business, construction
and technical services for the water environmental renovation.

For the six months ended 30 June 2019, the unaudited
consolidated profit attributable to the owners of the
company was approximately HK$2,769,856,000 and its
unaudited consolidated net assets was approximately
HK$43,692,192,000.

Brockman Mining Limited was incorporated in Bermuda and
its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
00159). Brockman Mining Limited is principally engaged in the
acquisition, exploration and development of iron ore in Australia.

For the six months ended 31 December 2019, the unaudited
consolidated loss attributable to the owners of the company was
approximately HK$13,508,000 and its unaudited consolidated
net assets was approximately HK$617,659,000.

China Information Technology Development Limited was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 08178). China
Information Technology Development Limited is principally
engaged in provision of system integration and related
support services, provision of IT infrastructure solutions and
maintenance services, money lending and securities trading.

For the six months ended 30 June 2019, the unaudited
consolidated loss attributable to the owners of the company was
approximately HK$52,026,000 and its unaudited consolidated
net assets was approximately HK$403,343,000.

Eta s

35. R&E (&)

T

(@)

EEKBEERR R BN BFELMA &
H A B 2 P £ v (B2 155 - 00871) -
EEKBEERR AR T 2R RERER
VAR KBRS R TR 52 4 I B AR 7%

HE-_Z-AFEA=Z+HIL~MBA %
NABBEANBEACERRE RN ALY
2,769,856,000/% 7Tk H R LB Z ARG EEF
1B £ 4943,692,192,000/% 7T °

Brockman Mining Limited? % 72 & & % & R
DA B R E AL R E AR RO AT
L (B 5% - 00159) ° Brockman Mining
Limitedh 2 e BB EBR NG EEZREKR
P E s SR R HAREREA -

HE_Z-NE+-_A=t+—HI~EA"
ZARBAANEBERCEEREABEAY
13,508,000 7t R E R Bz 6 EEFE
% 49617,659,000/% 7T ©

FEEERBERERAGNNHEHS T
B ST R H B R B A2 FTGEM_E T (IR 1R
§%:08178) - Bz BRI BB AR A A £
TRFIRHERFEA RAAIERY - 2 EH
BB EL AR b AR T R R MRS - K
BEUARBLHEE-

HE_Z-AFEA=Z+HILA~MBA %
RAIBBABEACERREEBEEAY
52,026,000/ 7t K R &L B Z4RE AEFE
7 47403,343,000/% 7T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

35. INVESTMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continueq)

©)

China State Construction International Holdings Limited was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 03311). China State
Construction International Holdings Limited is principally
engaged in construction business, project consultancy services,
thermoelectricity business, infrastructure project investments,
toll road operation and facade contracting business.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the audited
consolidated profit attributable to the owners of the
company was approximately HK$5,413,208,000 and
its audited consolidated net assets was approximately
HK$50,907,565,000.

Greenland Hong Kong Holdings Limited (stock code: 00337)
issued a maximum principal amount of USD200,000,000, 1.5
year, 9.875% bonds on 18 December 2018 and listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 05485) with the coupon rate
9.875% per annum, interest payable semi-annually and matured
on 17 June 2020.

Huayi Tencent Entertainment Company Limited was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00419). Huayi Tencent
Entertainment Company Limited is principally engaged in
entertainment and media business and provision of offline
healthcare and wellness services.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the audited
consolidated loss attributable to the owners of the company was
approximately HK$28,770,000 and its audited consolidated net
assets was approximately HK$833,210,000.
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35. R&E (&)

Wiat - (#)

@

FHEEEEREEERAGNRHSHS T
B 37 R EL R AR Bk 22 BT £ TR (BRD AR5 -
03311) - R LB EEBR A A EZH
FERER HEBMRE REER HE
BERE KERBEERIME TR

HEZZ—NE+_A=+—HILEE"
ZARBEBABEREZGE BN ALY
5,413,208,000% 7T k H & BIZir & B EFE
7 4950,907,565,0005% 7T

B ABERB R A T (AR5 R5E : 00337)
RZZE—NE+ A+ NBRTRALER
%200,000,000% 7t 2 1.6F i R Z@m AR &
9.875% 2 B Wi Bt 32 AT i1 (AR (5% -
05485) » = E F| % 3§ F9.875% K &+ F
S —XFE - RZBEZEFA+TERAE
Hio

EHBMBREBERANRHASHE M
B ST R B R BEE 22 BT T (BR D AR5 -
00419) - EREFIREBR AT FEH R
SRERBERURRHETERRELR
ﬁ%o

HEZZ—NE+_A=+—HILEE"
ZARBEBABEREZZRABEAY
28,770,000/ 7t R R B iZ4R 6 A EFE
7 49833,210,000% 7T ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &= — & —

35. INVESTMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continueq)

(©)

Kaisa Group Holdings Ltd. was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 01638). Kaisa Group Holdings Ltd. is principally
engaged in property development, property investment,
property management, hotel and catering operations, cinema,
department store and cultural centre operations, water-way
passenger and cargo transportation and healthcare business in
the PRC.

For the six months ended 30 June 2019, the unaudited
consolidated profit attributable to the owners of the
company was approximately RMB2,837,222,000 and
its unaudited consolidated net assets was approximately
RMB44,878,707,000.

Seazen Group Limited (stock code: 01030) issued a maximum
principal amount of USD350,000,000, 3 years, 5.0% senior
notes on 16 February 2017 and listed on the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited with the coupon rate 5.0%
per annum, interest payable semi-annually and matured on 16
February 2020.

Oddup Inc. was incorporated in the United States of America
and is principally engaged in operating a research platform that
provides analytical information on startups, their trends, and
both current and expected future valuations.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the unaudited
consolidated loss attributable to the owners of the company was
approximately USD584,000 and its unaudited consolidated net
assets was approximately USD17,199,000.

Fund Series 3T SP operated by Click Ventures Segregated
Portfolio Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands.
Fund Series 3T SP principally invests in start-ups at the seed to
series A stage in Hong Kong and internationally.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the unaudited
net assets attributable to holders was approximately
USD2,403,000.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+-A=+—HILFE

36. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The following table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, results in
particulars of excessive length.

Country/place

of incorporation
Name of subsidiary SER AR L Type of legal entity
WEAR LB B/ % EEERER

36. MiE R BFE

TRINTEERBR/RIBFERAEEEEL
BEZARAMBRAB -BEFRR KH
B RRFBI L EERREERNITT
EO

Apex Cheer Investments Limited British Virgin Islands  Limited liability company

Apex Cheer Investments Limited EBRUME BBRETAR
City King Investments Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company
SHREBRAR B BREMERT
Full Long Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands  Limited liability company
ESERERAR RBRAHE BREERA
Genius Hill Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company
LREBAR B BREMERT
Mega Way International Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company
BEERERAR B BREMERT
Sky Champion Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company
HEERAR B BREMERT
White Venture Capital Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company
BERBR R Bk BREERA

None of the subsidiaries had debt securities outstanding
at the end of the reporting period or at any time during the
year.
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Proportion of
ownership interest and
voting power Principal
Issued and fully paid held by the Company activities and
share capital RARFEEMN place of operations
BERTRARKRAE BEERREELS TEERRBELY
Directly Indirectly
B Gz
USD1 100% - Investment holding in
Hong Kong
E REBREER
HKS$1 100% - Investment holding in
Hong Kong
18T REBREER
USD1 100% - Investment holding in
Hong Kong
E REBREER
HKS$1 100% - Investment holding in
Hong Kong
18T REBREER
HK$10,000 100% - Investment holding in
Hong Kong
10,000/ 7T REBREER
HKS$1 - 100%  Investment holding in
Hong Kong
18T REBREER
HKS$1 - 100%  Investment holding in
Hong Kong
18T REBREER

¥R E R F R ERERE - B AR
BEEARMAREEZERES
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE =T —NF+ZA=+—HILFE

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Since early 2020, the epidemic of coronavirus disease
2019 (the “COVID-19”) has spread across the globe and
it may affect the business and economic activities of the
Group. Pending development of COVID-19, the Group’s
financial results and financial position may be affected and
the financial effect, except for fair value change of certain
listed investments disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements, cannot be reasonably estimated at the
date of approval of these consolidated financial statements.
The Group will closely monitor the development of the
COVID-19 and continue to evaluate its impact on the
business, the financial position and operating results of the
Group.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January
2019. Under the transition methods, comparative
information is not restated.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 March
2020.

37.

38.

39.

BEMEER

—_— =

2019%f & it & ([COVID-19])
SFEFVHABREERECREATREFER
B X REEES - FEZECOVID-19
BEER AEENMBEERIBRKR
ARSI FELAEZSRAVBEREK
HEEEZEBMATMBEE HREMK
WwEWFIOEBE ET EWREZATE
BB BRI o A K E S % 1) B)ECOVID-19
EEMBR THEFHEHASEE
MR RSB ERRNE -

BT
AEBMER-T-NAF-A—ABKE
AEEYMBRE L1695 - RIFBES
% LLEARK T ET
HESRESMBRE

RAVMBHRARETEN _T_TF=A
T REREETE
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 BHE—Z—NF+_A=+—HILFE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+t-HLEE

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—T-RE —E-RF “E+F —T-N\E “E-hE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TET FHET FET THET TR
Results £
Revenue Yegx 8,980 5,557 3,409 3,461 6,028
(Loss}/profit before income tax ~ BxFTE AR (512) /%7 (64,053) (87,070) 26,468 (141,223) (91,295)
Income tax expense FEHRS = = = = =
(Loss)/profit for the year F5 (B8) /5 (64,053) (87,070) 26,468 (141,223) (91,295)
At 31 December
W+=A=1+-H
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—T-RF NS e o3 —T-N\E “E-NE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHET FHET THET TR
Total assets BEE 593,211 548,659 545,474 419,730 339,538
Total liabilities BREE (101,953) (57,455) (26,256) (31,405) (42,507)
Net assets EEFE 491,258 491,204 519,218 388,325 297,031
Total equity e 491,258 491,204 519,218 388,325 297,031
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